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A Sense of Unity

	The history of Germany and the German-speaking peoples is as complex and multifaceted as any in Europe. It is also one of the most difficult to pinpoint conceptually and historically, since every nation is a construct to some extent. Language is certainly important, and the German language is a unifying factor for any notion of a unified Germany, yet even today, many German-speakers live outside the borders of modern Germany. Shared customs and traditions gave Germans a common sense of identity to some extent, but these were often local in origin. Germans were also split between several versions of Christianity. 

	Nevertheless, ideas of a German nation were present by the 19th century, leading up to the official unification in 1871. Neil MacGregor, a historian of modern Germany, has explained that the two defining events leading to the rise of German nationalism and the movement toward unification were the Thirty Years' War and the Napoleonic Wars.1 During the Thirty Years' War, more than 200 German states were part of the Holy Roman Empire's loose confederation, and that war was predominantly fought in German states by foreign powers, including France, Sweden, Denmark, Austria, and the Netherlands. MacGregor noted that “horrors were experienced across all Germany, and were never forgotten,” to the extent that they were invoked during World War II.2  The religious basis of the Thirty Years’ War saw the split between Catholicism and Protestantism, which was at the heart of the Reformation. Some foreign leaders even invoked defending "German freedoms" for their invasion.3 

	From the German point of view, the Thirty Years' War was proof of their vulnerability to foreign aggression. Atrocities such as the "sacking" of Magdeburg in 1631, where more than 30,000 people were killed, were embedded in the German consciousness.4 All told, 8 million people died during the Thirty Years’ War.

	Likewise, the Napoleonic Wars, fought about 150 years later, appeared to confirm these fears. The French Revolution had terrified similar royal regimes in other European empires, and as the revolution took on ever bloodier connotations, other countries were drawn into conflict with the new French Republic, with the Holy Roman Empire on the front line of the revolutionary wars. Napoleon Bonaparte earned his reputation with a number of victories on the battlefield and rose to the pinnacle of power in France. As the French emperor, his reign was characterized by a more aggressive military strategy and the rapid annexation of much of Europe. 
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	Napoleon

	The Rhineland was occupied even in the 1790s, and 1806, even Prussia, the largest German state, had been defeated. Prussia had been founded in 1701 out of the state of Brandenburg and extended its power and territory over the following century under the reign of Frederick the Great.5 In 1806, however, the Prussian monarchy was forced into a humiliating retreat and exile, while Napoleon rode through the recently built Brandenburg Gate in Berlin. This would not be forgotten by the German people. The French ruler annexed German lands, dissolved the Holy Roman Empire, and forced Prussia to pay war reparations, and this pattern of military victory, annexation, and reparations would affect relations between the two sides over the next 100 years.6
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	Frederick the Great

	 One of Napoleon’s first steps after the demise of the Holy Roman Empire was to set up the Confederation of the Rhine in 1806, which was essentially a puppet regime in the German states stretching from Bavaria in the south to the Baltic Sea. This would remain occupied until 1813, when the French went into retreat after the Battle of Leipzig. Prussia mounted a campaign to retake its territory after Napoleon’s defeat in Russia, and Leipzig, the biggest battle of the Napoleonic Wars in terms of numbers, was one of the key battles in this comeback. As a means of mobilizing its population, the Prussian leadership introduced a number of social reforms, including widening access to education. At the same time, Prussia made military service compulsory, which undoubtedly assisted in the French's eventual defeat. It also had the effect of militarizing Prussian politics and society, a point the state's critics would continue to shed light on, even during the rise of the Nazis. 

	The Prussians, in coalition with several other countries and forces, finally defeated Napoleon in 1815 at Waterloo, and the subsequent Congress of Vienna would cement its place as leader of the German-speaking states and a major European power. By then, the French occupation, as well as the memory of the Thirty Years’ War, had cultivated a sense of solidarity amongst German speakers, despite their many geographical and cultural differences. Many had volunteered to fight Napoleon’s armies during the conflicts through a feeling of camaraderie. The occupation accelerated a sense of "German-ness," and German-speaking composers such as Wolfgang Amadeus Mozart and Ludwig van Beethoven were co-opted to form a sense of cultural excellence and civilization along with the formalization of the German language, which increased as the 19th century progressed. Other German writers, painters, and composers emphasized traditions, which helped construct a national "story". The Brothers Grimm, for instance, were born in Hessen in the time of the Holy Roman Empire, and it is perhaps no coincidence they published their first volume of fairy tales in 1812, a year before the end of the Confederation of the Rhine.7 The Brothers Grimm specialized in German folklore, invoking rural and sometimes graphic themes, which became omnipotent across German-speaking territories. Little Red Riding Hood, The Pied Piper of Hamelin, and Rumpelstiltskin became children’s staples and helped construct a national "hinterland."8

	The Congress of Vienna, which took place over several months during 1814 and 1815, was an attempt to resolve the numerous challenges presented by Napoleon’s expansion and his subsequent defeat. The talks have been seen as a critical moment in European history, and depending on the point-of-view, the results were either a diplomatic breakthrough or the last gasps of the continent’s conservative elites. It was also a crucial step toward German unification, although this was not clear at the time. 

	French expansionism had put Europe in a state of flux. The coalition forces that ultimately defeated Napoleon were a combination of the Austrian Habsburgs, Russia, Prussia, and the British, all of whom wanted to impose terms on France at Vienna to mold the continent in their interests. Vienna was chosen as one of the victorious powers and the home for a huge central and southeastern European empire, and the key actors at Vienna were Austrian Foreign Minister Count Klemens von Metternich and British Foreign Minister Lord Castlereagh. Their ultimate aims were to secure or impose a balance of power in Europe according to new geopolitical realities. 
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	Metternich
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	Castlereagh

	Leaders in 1814-1815 were broadly opposed to both republicanism and revolution, and the outcome of the Congress reflected these principles. One of the key features of Vienna was, therefore, the re-ordering of German states into a German Confederation, or Deutscher Bund.9 The Confederation was, in essence, a re-imagining of the Holy Roman Empire, but with 39 states. Prussia's role was recognized, and it was granted new territory in the Rhineland, including the large city of Cologne.10 Crucially, the Austrians were to head the new, albeit loose Confederation. 

	Even as this took place, Metternich was deeply conservative and fearful of liberalism and nationalism's impact within the German states, particularly concerning Prussia's potential leadership role. The new arrangement would, therefore, attempt to contain German nationalism. Metternich and Castlereagh also constructed the so-called "Concert of Europe", whereby leading European powers would engage in regular diplomacy to resolve future challenges. This system developed during the 19th century, and although it was flawed, it managed to prevent major military conflagrations. 

	Of course, despite the fact the Vienna settlement limited new political forces such as nationalism, it could not subsequently prevent them from reappearing with even more potency. Nonetheless, the Concert of Europe model would reappear in the form of the League of Nations and then the United Nations after further disastrous wars, ones that involved Germany more directly.

	Economic Development and Integration 

	The new German Confederation met in 1815 as outlined in the Vienna Final Act. Known as the Federal Diet, the institution met in Frankfurt am Main. From the start, many German liberals were disappointed by the outcome of Vienna and the new Confederation,11 believing Napoleon's defeat presented the opportunity to pursue wide-ranging political and social reform in opposition to the business-as-usual approach represented by the Deutscher Bund. For much of the 19th century, nationalism and liberalism were closely aligned, which worried conservatives. With that said, at the time, since it was a relatively poor region, most Germans were primarily concerned with economic development and security, so liberalism and nationalism were not widely held beliefs at that time. Where conservative Germans had reason to be unhappy with the Vienna settlement was in the sphere of physical security, as many still feared French invasion and memories of the Napoleonic occupation were crucial to the rise of defensive nationalism.12 During the period of Confederation, the more powerful Austrians competed with the emerging Prussians for dominance over the German-speaking world, and that rivalry would also foster support for unification over the course of the 19th century. 

	A number of trends emerged between the foundation of the Federal Diet and the 1848 revolutions gripping much of Europe. Considerable economic development took place within the Deutscher Bund, and many of its inhabitants grew wealthier and enjoyed a better quality of life. Political tensions gripped the Confederation at various points, however, and a gradual rise in German nationalism can be observed. The first notable incident occurred in October 1817, when a number of students protested at the Wartburg Festival, held to celebrate the 300th anniversary of Martin Luther’s "Ninety-Five Theses." Luther had been a key figure in the Reformation, dividing Christianity from its then omnipotent Catholic domination and leading to the creation of Protestant churches. Luther had done much of his work at Wartburg Castle, located in central Germany in Thuringia, including the first translation of the Bible into German. As such, he exerted a powerful influence over German-speakers' imaginations, both spiritually and as a key figure in the development of their language. 
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	Luther

	The students at the 1817 Wartburg Festival marched in protest against reactionary politics and the teaching of backward-looking literature, invoking Luther in their resistance of the status quo and in their claims for a more independent "German-ness".13 Incidents such as these concerned Austrian conservatives such as Metternich, who became State Chancellor and Foreign Minister shortly thereafter.

	In addition to political agitation in the German states, Prussia sought to expand its influence in the Confederation by leading economic development and trade links. The most important element in this process was the Zollverein, or the customs union. It was initially designed and developed in 1818 and eventually implemented in 1834, gradually including more and more of the Confederation’s German states, although crucially, never Austria.14 The Zollverein increased trade between its members who often had quite different regulations and practices, as well as links between German-speakers in the union. It was, therefore, a crucial step toward a unified German entity and allowed Prussia to stake a claim as leader of a potentially formalized state. Metternich was opposed to the Zollverein, which was typical for a conservative, as he worried about the effects of competition on the Austrian economy, and therefore, favored protectionism. It was to be another fateful decision hastening Prussian pre-eminence within the German-speaking world. 

	Curiously, the Zollverein included states that were not considered parts of Germany, such as Luxembourg. This also alludes to the fact that Germany’s cultural and economic borders were often quite different from its political boundaries. For instance, Prague, Strasbourg, and Königsberg (known today as Kaliningrad) were considered integral parts of Germany’s heritage, although they often sat outside arrangements during (and beyond) the 19th century. Apart from the customs union, the Confederation experienced a boom in railway building in the decades after 1815. This infrastructure also built fraternal and physical links between Germans in the region.15 Many historians have focused on military victories as the key driver of German unification, but "soft power" policies, such as the Zollverein, as well as growing cultural convergence and awareness, must also be included in the wider story of German unification.

	Austria was quick to assert its authority over agitation in the smaller German states. By 1819, Metternich and the Austrian conservatives were already worried about German liberalism and nationalism. Metternich called a conference of the Confederation in 1819 to contain what he believed could be lethal for the settlement constructed at Vienna. The conference in Carlsbad (now Karlovy Vary in the Czech Republic) issued a number of decrees banning nationalist groups and forcing universities to sack liberal professors. The Carlsbad Decrees were indicative of Metternich’s desire to suppress national-liberation sentiment within the Confederation. At that time, he still had enough power to persuade Prussia to accept Austria’s decisions.16 The Decrees also allude to another trend in the German-speaking world in this period, the favouring of authoritarian—rather than liberal— policies. Freedom of expression was consistently quashed (with notable exceptions) during the German Confederation and in its successors.  

	The period before the March 1848 uprisings in the Confederation became known as the Vormärz (before March) period. Liberalism was a product of the Enlightenment, the so-called "Age of Reason" that swept Europe in the 18th century. German thinkers, such as Immanuel Kant, played a central role. Ideas such as secularism, democracy, and human rights (or the "Rights of Man", as this was more commonly known during the period) may not have touched every person in the German states. For all his flaws, Napoleon Bonaparte offered a version of these Enlightenment ideals by sweeping away the old order and presenting a degree of social reform. It was inevitable that liberalism and the principles of the Enlightenment would exert some influence on the German-speaking world, despite Vienna's compromises. There were, indeed, attempted uprisings in Europe inspired by liberal ideas at the start of the 1830s and in the Confederation, which were concentrated at the 1832 Hambach Festival. It was there that protestors publicly raised the national flag of black, red, and gold. German nationalists and liberals came together in opposition to the Confederation, which was met with suppression by the authorities. 

	In April 1833, students attempted to foment an uprising in Frankfurt am Main, close to the location of the Federal Diet.17 The revolution failed, and Austrian and Prussian troops occupied the city. Both leading players in the Confederation had taken similar paths, interested in enhancing their power but conservative, and in Prussia’s case, militaristic. Metternich remained in charge into the 1840s, but his long career was nearing an end. Prussian King Frederick Wilhelm IV18 also came under pressure by other Germans to reform Confederation. Then, in 1848, Europe was convulsed by revolution, and the German-speaking world was once more re-ordered, thus taking a closer step to unification.

	At numerous moments in modern European history, sudden uprisings supporting radical change have been either internalized or rebuffed by conservative elites and established interests. This can be said for both the 1789 French Revolution and the 1848 revolutions.19 Although a more nuanced approach shows these ruptures led to fundamental change, the initial outpouring of euphoria was ultimately pacified. The former led to the Congress of Vienna, in which conservative Austrian Prince Metternich had the decisive voice. After 1848, it was another conservative, Prussian Otto von Bismarck, who remade the politics of Europe in due course. German national sentiment was an ever-present force in the century, leading, in part, to these fissures, but it was also altered by 1815 and 1848. Other powers besides Austria, particularly the British, became concerned about German nationalism and how it would alter European geopolitics.20

	There was a continent-wide revolt in 1848. The first uprising took place in Sicily that January, and uprisings spread through France, Italy, Austria, the Netherlands, and numerous other European states. The demands were rooted in greater accountability, the stirrings of democracy, social reform, and most potently, nationalism. 

	Socialist groups, relatively novel at the time, also sought to capitalize on the unrest to agitate for radical change. Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels had published the Communist Manifesto that February at the request of the Communist League.21 Although he lived in Brussels at the time, Marx’s real target was the German Confederation, which he believed portrayed a number of conditions necessary for socialist revolution. Soon afterward, the 1848 revolutions gripped the Deutscher Bund. Uprisings took place in Baden (in the Southwest of the region, bordering France), then Munich in Bavaria, Vienna, and a host of other cities including Mainz, Berlin, and Dresden. Count von Metternich, who by that time had been Austrian Chancellor for 27 years, fled after being forced from office. In most of the German states, feelings of nationalism were at the forefront of protests, with many demanding national unity. Along with prominent liberal reformers, nationalists sought to forge a new Germany. 

	Conditions in Prussia and Europe, in general, were poor in 1848.  Author of Bismarck and His Times, George O. Kent, lists the factors that made socialism attractive to the masses: poor wheat and rye crops, the potato blight, rising food prices and unemployment, and low wages.22  The 1848 revolution ushered in a parliament elected through universal suffrage, but in the aftermath, as was the case with most conflicts in 1848, conservatism revived itself.  Frederick Wilhelm ended parliament and in its stead placed one with a more indirectly elected and less powerful membership. It was to this parliament, unlike the radical one, that Bismarck was elected.23

	The Frankfurt Convention was a heady affair in which reformers and reactionaries from across the Confederation argued to try to gain the most influence on the new direction for the German-speaking world. Initially, however, it was the liberals who held the most sway, and they believed the best way to guarantee civic freedoms, democracy, and human rights was through a nation-state.24 In this way, the liberals managed to co-opt nationalists. 

	Two versions of a unified Germany emerged during this period: Kleindeutschland (Lesser or Smaller Germany) and Großdeutschland (Greater Germany).25 The former would be led by Prussia, while the latter would also include Austria. The convention ultimately decided to opt for Kleindeutschland and offered the crown of a unified Germany to Prussian ruler King Frederick Wilhelm IV, who turned the offer down, believing the convention to be illegitimate and adamant that Austria was the leader of the German states. It may be that conservative Frederick Wilhelm was also ill at ease with the liberal direction of the Frankfurt pronouncements. As a result, the German Confederation resumed in 1850, lasting until the Austrians and Prussians came to blows 16 years later. Historians have argued over the significance of the Frankfurt Convention, and whether future conflicts could have been averted if liberals had taken a stronger position during the talks. 

	Other versions of what it meant to be German also came to prominence during the century, centered around culture and language. At a point of German weakness during Napoleon's occupation, Bavarian King Ludwig I suggested building a shrine dedicated to great Germans,26 with the sole qualification for inclusion being the German language. This later became the Walhalla Temple, built near the ancient city of Regensburg on the Danube River. The temple included in its collection of busts some Dutch-speakers and Flemish-speakers, which were considered varieties of "Low German" by some linguistics. As a result, German nationalists could expand their concept of a German nation to include any person that spoke German. 

	In the 19th century, this covered a large swathe of the continent. Taking the lead of the Brothers Grimm, other writers, musicians, and artists further constructed the concept of "German-ness" through art. This often focused on the landscape of the region— forests, mountains, and rivers, as well as the German language in particular.27 If the Zollverein increased trade along the Rhine River, "Rhine Romantics" such as Friedrich Schlegel turned it into a place capturing the German imagination through writing and an endless supply of attractive paintings. Outsiders, such as British artist J.M.W. Turner and poet Lord Byron, also flocked to the Rhineland, which helped increase its popularity. Another town on the Rhine, Königswinter, became home to German legend Siegfried the Dragon Slayer, a myth developed in an opera by composer Richard Wagner, whose work crystallized the development of German cultural nationalism during the 19th century. 
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	Wagner

	Further upstream at a rock formation beyond Koblenz, the legend of the Lorelei was solidified in German folklore as a beautiful siren-mermaid who tempted travelers. German poet Heinrich Heine published his famous poem, Die Lorelei, in 1824.  Taken together, this depicts a diffuse effort to create the idea of a German nation through art, writing, music, monuments, and culture across the period. It is unsurprising, therefore, that calls for German political unity increased.

	Many have identified the failure of social reformers at the 1848 Frankfurt Convention as crucial in Germany's development.28 Critics assert that as a result of liberals being unable to seize power from the entrenched aristocratic regimes in 1848, they allowed reactionary conservative forces to remain in control.29 Those on the left believed the 1848 liberals were not committed to a radical or democratic path,30 and these failures meant the unified Germany emerging in the 1870s would turn out to be fundamentally more illiberal than its contemporaries and neighbors. The focus for these themes usually concentrates on the role played by Prussia in the development of German unification after 1848.

	The Rise of Prussia

	Although Prussia declined the offer to lead a German state in 1849, Berlin continued its ascendancy during the 1850s. Frederick Wilhelm’s first move, under pressure from Prussian politicians and the army and contravening his decision from the previous year, was to propose the "Erfurt Union" in 1850, a plan to unite German states in a federation by excluding the Austrians. Prussia was forced to quickly abandon the proposal by the Austrians in Vienna, subsequently signing the Treaty of Olmütz at the end of 1850, and the Confederation resumed. To the Prussians, Olmütz was a humiliation, demonstrating that Vienna still held the upper hand when it came to the Confederation.31 

	Another blow to Prussia came over the so-called "Schleswig-Holstein Question," the region around Kiel and Flensburg in the north of today’s Germany. Both Prussia and Denmark contested the area, and Prussian troops occupied the territory after fighting erupted in 1848. Under pressure from the German Confederation and international opinion, the Prussians withdrew in 1850, but these accumulated defeats at the hands of Austria and Denmark would stick in people’s craws over the next decade. Prussia would eventually seek to reverse the course of the 1848-50 events through force.

	Leadership was also crucial. A group of leaders rose to power in Prussia in the 1850s and 1860s that profoundly altered the progression of German nationalism. Strengthened by the eventual quashing of the 1848 revolutions, Prussia was on the move in this period, introducing a degree of democratic participation lacking in many parts of Europe. Under the supervision of King Frederick Wilhelm IV, Prussia introduced a constitution that included a lower house of parliament (Landtag) elected by male taxpayers. This ensured it pursued a particular agenda, one in the interests of wealthy Prussian society. Likewise, the upper house was selected by the king, ensuring this chamber followed the interests of the aristocracy. 

	At the same time, Prussia was about to capitalize on the rapid expansion of the Industrial Revolution. The Ruhr Region, including cities such as Essen and Dortmund, was found to have extensive coal and iron repositories, and by the middle of the 19th century, the region was home to hundreds of mines and a rapidly growing population. The Ruhr would power Prussia's economic development and militarization through supplies of coal and steel. 

	The movement of workers from rural, agricultural-based jobs to the cities and industrial labor also hastened the growth of trade unions and socialist parties. Nevertheless, at this stage, liberals were still a notable force in Prussian politics. The influential, liberal German Progress Party agitated for reform during the late 1850s and early 1860s. However, part of the party’s platform revolved around a Kleindeutschland model of German unification under Prussian leadership, and by using this overriding concern, Prussian leaders, notably Bismarck, were able to split the liberal parties.

	Frederick Wilhelm was ailing in the 1850s after a stroke and died in 1861. His brother, King Wilhelm I, replaced him.32 In his early years as monarch, Wilhelm I was concerned about a dispute arising in the Landtag with liberal parliamentarians, which came to a showdown after the parliament refused a request by the Minister of War for more funds and men.33 As a result, Wilhelm I appointed conservative Otto von Bismarck as Prime Minister in 1862. 

	Bismarck had been born in 1815 to a wealthy family known as the Junker-class of property-owners, and he had entered politics around the time of the 1848 revolutions. There has been much debate over Bismarck’s actual beliefs and whether he was actually a German nationalist, or whether he was simply interested in power for power’s sake. Some historians believe he was predominantly an opportunist, but Bismarck's profound conservatism seems clear, and his political gift lay in his ability to make every situation work in his own interest. 

	Initially, Bismarck wanted to find a compromise between Landtag liberals and the king, but Wilhelm I was adamant in his desire to increase the armed forces. As a result, in September 1862, Bismarck gave his famous "Blood and Iron" speech, essentially arguing that Prussia’s security and wealth could only be guaranteed by the use of "blood and iron", that is to say, not words or negotiation, but the use of force. As a result, he earned the title of the "Iron Chancellor". Bismarck was also scathing over what he called "majority decisions," which meant democracy. Nevertheless, as prime minister, he repeatedly worked with and outwitted the Landtag through a combination of guile and hard-headed realism. 

	Bismarck, along with other Prussian contemporaries, came to embody the principle of Realpolitik, an idea coined in 1853 by German liberal Ludwig von Rochau.34 The idea was that liberals’ objectives might require some compromises and the acceptance of political realities, progressively moving toward their ultimate goals at the same time. Bismarck used Realpolitik for his own purposes, and the term has become more associated with cynical calculation and manipulation, particularly in the pursuit of national interest. This was especially applicable in the conflicts Bismarck fought in pursuit of German unity, and Bismarck was supported in his strategy by Chief of the General Staff of the Army General Helmuth von Moltke and Minister for War Albrecht von Roon. Both Roon and Moltke found a common cause with Bismarck as conservatives and in their longing to modernize the Prussian Army.35 It was Bismarck and his allies Roon and Moltke who would be the key players in Prussia’s drive to unify a German state under its tutelage. The Prussian parliament was usually several steps behind the Iron Chancellor.

	Another politician who has been retrospectively considered a practitioner of a more self-interested, less ideological form of Realpolitik, was Metternich. Austria was still powerful enough to command leadership after the 1848 revolutions and the exile of Metternich, but it was gradually losing its pre-eminence to Prussia. The situation after 1848 was similar in Austria to other parts of Europe, as the ruling-class attempted to reassert control, and in the process, stamp out dissenting and radical voices. Austria, having been outside the Zollverein, now attempted to liberalize its economy, but it was in relative decline. In addition, many of the nationalities within the empire agitated for greater autonomy, such as the Czechs. 

	A conflict erupted in Italy during 1859-1860 in which the Austrians and their allies were pitted against the French, and the latter emerged victorious, Austria had to cede territory, and in 1861, the Kingdom of Italy was declared. All of these trends and events worked against Vienna, leaving it in an increasingly weakened position, especially within the German Confederation. 

	The Austro-Prussian War

	Bismarck, as the prime minister of Prussia, has been credited with Prussia’s rise and eventual German unity, but also excoriated for laying the foundation for modern fascism in Germany.  His diplomatic manipulation is recognized by those on both sides of the argument; he is always described, whether positively or negatively, as a man willing to do whatever was necessary to accomplish his goals.  For Ford, Bismarck was “the greatest opportunist in the history of the world.”36  Rejecting the idea that Bismarck was simply the right Prussian at the right time for Prussian ascendance, Ford countered, “Prussia was being pulled forward by one single man, who, as we shall see later, gasped and staggered and clutched at twigs which broke, and gave ground and cried with nervous exhaustion when he himself had reduced the King of Prussia to tears of an exhaustion equally nervous.”37  Bismarck had determined that Austrian status must decline if Prussia was to elevate its status as a world power.38 
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	Bismarck in 1863

	The Prussians, upstarts from the beginning, had desired such change for decades, but “most of Bismarck's predecessors thought in terms of a political rather than a military humiliation of Austria…In his attitude to foreign policy Bismarck differed from them in two important respects: he was prepared to carry the process of the revision of the 1815 settlement in Germany farther than they had ever contemplated, and he was also willing to exploit any opportunity to achieve his ends.”39

	After the demise of Napoleon, however, one power could not act without the approval or at least neutrality of the others, so regardless of whether one agrees with Ford’s “one single man” view of Bismarck or not, Bismarck had to face certain realities. Put simply, Russia, France, Britain, and even Italy would have to be convinced that Prussia’s actions against Austria would benefit them, or at the very least that the balance of power would not be affected. Bismarck would set out to do just that, and to move so quickly that there would hardly be time for international reaction, but as it turned out, Russia, Britain, and to a lesser extent France all convinced themselves of it anyway.  Bismarck’s relationship with key players in the Russian government allowed the Russians to believe that their common interests would be strengthened by Prussian ascendance.  The British, aiming to steer clear of European continental conflicts, were more concerned with the French than the Austrians, and France believed Prussia and Austria were so closely matched that the French would be needed to break the stalemate and receive a just reward.

	At the same time, Italy was primed for conflict with Austria and, because of its history, could be easily convinced to ally with the Prussians in exchange for promises of land and revenge against the Austrians. Despite growing nationalism in Italy, in 1866 it remained divided, and it was not until 1870 that Italy was a united and modern nation-state.  In 1815, Austria, with the approval of the great powers, helped itself to the rich Italian provinces of Lombardy and Venetia, and from that time until 1859, Austria acted as Italy’s “gendarme,” in the words of Geoffrey Wawro.  When Italian nationalists rose against the “restored regimes in Piedmont, Rome, Naples, and the Italian duchies,” Austria made sure “to crush opposition,” sending in troops in 1815, 1821, 1830, 1831, and 1847.40 

	With no love lost between the Italians and Austria, the Italians were a ready ally for Prussia if convinced that a military alliance would give them the diplomatic and military respect they craved. For their part, the Prussians and General Helmuth von Moltke the Elder believed that the Italian army was necessary for Prussian success in any conflict against the Austrians.  Threats from Italian forces would preoccupy the Austrians, allowing Prussia to put its armies into solid strategic positions.41
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	Helmuth von Moltke the Elder

	Of course, the German people also needed convincing.  After many years of relative peace with the European powers, “most governments claimed at the outset of wars that they were the innocent victims of aggression and urged the people to unite in defense of their fatherland. Governments felt it necessary to conceal their very specific territorial ambitions behind general and idealized value. In 1866 Bismarck asked Germans to fight Germans, not for Prussian expansion, but for the sake of the fatherland.”42  This Germanic nationalism would eventually carry Bismarck to war against the French as well, creating the first German nation-state in 1871, but for now, “Germany” was just an idea.  Instead, a strong Prussian kingdom was the potential leader for Germanic people seeking unity without Austrian involvement.

	In his commentary on the military significance of the Battle of Königgrätz, American General Arthur Wagner provided a timeline of events leading to the outbreak of war between Austria and Prussia. Tellingly, Wagner’s timeline begins with the Treaty of Vienna in October of 1864, and for a proper understanding of what led to the Austro-Prussian conflict, it is necessary to understand the recent actions of an allied Austro-Prussia union in the matter of Denmark.  

	At the time, “Germany” was far more conceptual than a political or geographical reality.  The German Confederation, established in 1815 as a result of the defeat of Napoleon, included 39 separate German states, each with their own history and political leanings.  For many Germans, the idea of unity was attractive, but while some dreamed of a Germany united under Austria’s leadership (a vision known as Grossdeutschland), others preferred to exclude the Austrians and looked instead to Prussia (Kleindeutschland).43  Prussia and Austria competed for leadership in Germany, especially as Prussia strengthened its military and economic powers and Austria weakened in the face of internal conflicts.  The appointment of Bismarck to the Frankfurt Diet in 1851, and later to the position of Prussian Chief Minister in 1862, would prove crucial to how the question of German unity would be answered.   

	Despite the underlying conflict, Prussia and Austria had united in the fight against the King of Denmark in 1864.  King Christian IX, new to the throne, attempted to abrogate the London Protocol, an earlier agreement by the now-deceased Frederick VII that had promised continuing independence for the duchies of Schleswig and Holstein. Danish domination of these German-speaking areas represented an affront to those who dreamed of unity, whether Austrian or Prussian led. 
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	Christian IX

	Both Austria and Prussia had significant reasons for opposing the Danish King. For Austria, any ethnic division, such as the Danish-German split in Holstein, represented a threat to its multiethnic empire, a heterogeneous aggregation of Germans, Czechs, Magyars, Poles, Croats and Italians bound together in a purely artificial nationality.44  Already plagued by divisions in the east with the Hungarian Magyars, Austria wanted to maintain the status quo in the duchies.  

	Prussia, and particularly Bismarck, on the other hand, had more pragmatic reasons for opposing Danish rule.  Bismarck had designs on the port of Kiel in Schleswig, and if the new Danish king appeared to violate the promises of the past, European opinion might allow a “defensive” attack by Prussian troops that would allow the taking of the port. At the same time, if Prussia sent troops there, Austria could not merely stand by and risk the appearance of Prussian leadership in an international matter. Thus, in February of 1864, without opposition from England, France, or Russia, the Austrians and Prussians began an “execution” against the actions of the Danes, sending troops representing the federal Diet of the German Confederation into Schleswig.45  The war, fought over limited goals and local border disputes, rather than international causes, can be categorized as a cabinet war (Kabinetskriege), or as military historian John Broom put it, “clearly a cabinet war."46  

	The war’s result brought no independence to the people of either Schleswig or Holstein, but simply placed them squarely under the dominion of Austria and Prussia, a condominium ruled jointly.47  Though the Treaty of Vienna promised “future peace and friendship between their Majesties the King of Prussia and the Emperor of Austria and his Majesty the King of Denmark as well as between their heirs and successors, their respective states and subjects in perpetuity,”48 nothing could have been further from the truth.  

	Bismarck had known that relations between the Prussians and Austrians were fraught with difficulty. The countries were uneasy allies against Denmark, and Bismarck subsequently proceeded with what he believed was necessary to accomplish his goals for Prussia, which had meant an alliance with Austria in 1864. To a critic of his policy, Bismarck replied, “You do not trust Austria. Nor do I; but I think it right to have Austria with us now; we shall see later whether the moment of parting comes and from whom.”49

	Almost immediately after the Danish War, Austria and Prussia were at odds over the rule of the former duchies.  Bismarck, of course, wanted these northern duchies for Prussia, a stance Austria firmly opposed. Austria, listening to the cries of the southern states of the German confederation, believed it was justified in demanding that the duchies remain independent from any nation, but jointly ruled by the Duke of Augustenberg, a claimant to the throne.50  

	Historians debate Bismarck’s motives here; had he simply wanted to rule the new territories as a plan to strengthen Prussia itself or was his insistence at controlling Schleswig-Holstein part of a plan to draw Austria into a conflict?51  The New York Times reported on “The Schleswig-Holstein Question” in June of 1865, calling the escalating tension between Austria and Prussia “entertaining”:

	“Each of these powers entered into the war against Denmark with the full intention of cheating each other, and pocketing the lion's share of the spoils…no sane man out of Germany ever believed that the crusade against the little mother kingdom was begun for the purpose of delivering the Schleswig-Holsteiners from Danish rule. Everybody knew that Prussia had an eye on Kiel, as a commodious harbor for her prospective navy. Austria wanted another ally among the small German States that support her against Prussia, and assist in checkmating the ambitious designs of king WILHELM and Herr BISMARCK…the people at large supported the war from a vague notion that it might lead to grand results in the way of German unity,  that unfulfilled dream of many centuries.

	“…with the conclusion of peace came bitter jealousies, accusations and recriminations, that threaten to set all Germany together by the ears. Prussia, having the most to gain, made the first dash for the spoils. She seized upon the important seaport of Kiel, and commenced there the erection of fortifications and dockyards, with the aid of a person that felt entirely at home and meant to stay. When Austria remonstrated, Count BISMARCK serenely smiled, and uttered a few "glittering generalities" about the glory of Prussia being inseparably entwined with that of all the German States…Like a prudent statesman, he is content to move slowly, occasionally throwing a little dust in his adversary's eyes. He still keeps up a show of negotiation with Austria and the Federal Diet, and even proposes to allow the people of Schleswig-Holstein to express their sentiments through on election, which he well knows will do them no possible good, nor stand in the way of the accomplishment of his own designs.”52

	In August 1865, Austria was forced to agree to the convention of Gastein, which allowed Prussia to rule Schleswig while Austria ruled Holstein.53  This left the Austrian government in the position of pleasing very few, as Austrian and southern German supporters of the Augustenberg candidacy felt he had been betrayed. Indeed, those who opposed the rise of Prussia felt like victims of a “Bismarckian trap”. The German General Staff later called the administration of the duchies by both countries a “momentary understanding…only a postponement, not a definite settlement, of the question at issue.”54

	Tensions rose between Austria and Prussia as “the less security Prussia found in the German Confederation, the more was she compelled to seek for an ally elsewhere.”55 Other nations were understandably tempted to choose sides. The Italians, not yet united but desiring a national cause that could bring them together, along with giving them a claim to territory taken by Austria, promised Prussia an alliance in any conflict with Austria.  The condition under which the promise was granted was that any conflict in which the Italians would aid Prussia must take place within three months.  This timeline put pressure on Bismarck to act, but he also had to make sure Prussia didn’t appear to be the non-aggressor.  France, in turn, promised Austria neutrality but not aid in a war involving the Prussians.56

	Continuing disagreements over the state of the duchies eventually compelled Austria to ask for a decision from the Diet at Frankfurt. The Diet was the legislative body of the German Confederation, but it had been dominated by Austria’s representatives for years.  In asking the confederation to decide the question, rather than continuing to deal with Prussia as an ally in the matter of the duchies, the Austrians “had made the first open gesture of hostility.”57 

	Prussia responded by marching troops into Holstein,58 and with that, Bismarck seized the opportunity to challenge traditional Austrian dominance while appearing only to defend Prussia’s interests. There would be weeks of negotiations and diplomacy before the Austro-Prussian War began, but in The Great Powers and the European States System, 1815-1914, authors F.R. Bridge and Roger Bullen claim that from May 1866 on, both powers “accepted that war between them was inevitable.”59  The authors even claim that Bismarck used backchannels to offer the Austrians a way out of the conflict, with roughly the same moderate terms he planned to bring to the table after Austria’s defeat.60

	That summer, most of Europe put more stock in the armies of Austria. Since the Prussians had not been tested in a major conflict since Waterloo in 1815, many believed that the “Sparta of the north” was past its prime, and though Austria had been defeated by the Italians in the Battle of Solferino, the Austrians had recent combat experience, superiority of numbers, and a longer history.  With that said, and with the advantage of hindsight, military historian Arthur Wagner noted the disparity between appearances and reality at the start of the war - though Austria was twice as large as Prussia with a population advantage of 15 million, the Prussians had the advantage.61

	As the war began, the smaller German states had to choose sides. Those siding with Prussia included “Saxe-Coburg-Gotha, Lippe, Oldenburg, [and] Hansetowns.”62  This added about 28,000 men, in addition to the Prussian forces and the 200,000 Italians pledged to assist Prussia. Prussia had about 720,000 men under arms between the regular army and the Landwehr, which was the home defense created by the requirement for all men to serve.63 The Landwehr required that previously trained soldiers remain in inactive service for 11 years, and its strength lay in its organization. “In peace everything is always kept ready for the mobilization of the army, every officer and every official knows during peace what will be his post and what will be his duty the moment the decree for the mobilization is issued, and the moment that decree is flashed by telegraph to the most distant stations everyone sets about his necessary duty without requiring any further orders or any explanations.”64 As such, Prussia had not only great leadership but men at the ready and a mobilization plan activated by the most modern communication and transportation systems in continental Europe.

	Austria had an army of 600,00065 and was supported by most of the German states (which sided with Austria in the final vote of the German Diet on June 12, 186666), totaling 141,000 men. However, despite the huge advantages in population and men under arms, the issue of mobilization was key.  Like Russia at the start of World War I, Austria’s need for an extended time to get the military in place and ready to fight would prove an obstacle. The necessity to announce mobilization also limited Austria’s diplomatic options.  The German General Staff report, published in 1878, charges Austria with a clear breach of its own claims to desire peace due simply to the mobilization efforts in the spring of 1866.  For the writer of that report, the freedom of the Prussian press and the organization of the Prussian army made deception impossible on the Prussian side.  Austria, he argued, was the aggressor because the Austrians “overrode the stipulations of the Conventions of Vienna and Gastein” by moving troops, repairing military fortresses, purchasing horses, and calling up men in reserve.67  Prussia, in his view, had delayed its mobilization, which was necessarily the equivalent of war footing, though “for even in May the hope that hostilities might still with honour be avoided had not been entirely abandoned.”68 Instead, Prussia was forced to respond to Austrian aggression with its own mobilization. 

	Just 10 weeks after the outbreak of war, the Treaty of Prague was signed on August 23, 1866.  Though the war itself was a contained fight between two powers, the Austro-Prussian conflict resulted in a “territorial and political settlement of 1866-67 in central Europe [that] was the single most important and extensive revision of the treaties of 1815. The Prussian annexations in Germany made her larger, more populous and richer than all the other German states combined. Austria ceased at one blow to be an Italian and German power, relinquishing Venetia to France (who transferred it to Italy) at the same time as she was expelled from Germany. The loose Confederation of 1815 was replaced by the new centrally-controlled and Prussian-dominated Confederation of 1867…. Short localized wars between two powers had, as one British diplomat observed, replaced conference diplomacy of all the powers as the principal means of treaty revision. The 1815 settlement in central Europe was totally destroyed.”69

	In the immediate aftermath of the Austro-Prussian victory, Bismarck enjoyed political favor, if not a consolidated base of support, as the Prussian mood seemed to have swung in the direction of the pragmatic: “Prussia's victory of 1866 seemed to convince many of the advantages of the realpolitik of the 1860s over the idealism of the 1840s. People wearied of supporting the unsuccessful policies of Austria and were frustrated by the seemingly unattainable goals of liberalism and constitutionalism. But beyond that, the unification of the country under Prussian leadership now seemed within reach.”70 Bismarck believed a new Northern German Confederation was a political necessity, but the unification of the south and the formation of Germany as a nation would have to wait. 

	Bismarck was undoubtedly one of the most important politicians of the 19th century, but for most historians, it was Prussia’s military and economic superiority, not Bismarck’s leadership, that should be credited for the victory over the Austrians. Its railroads and communication lines, its ability to lean on trained conscripts in reserve, and its superior weaponry in the breech-loading needle gun all led to a Prussian victory in only seven weeks of war.71 

	The Path to More War

	There was still a large number of liberals in the Prussian Landtag, and a majority explicitly aligned themselves with Bismarck after the Austro-Prussian War, including Ludwig von Rochau, author of Realpolitk, who may have believed (erroneously) that Prussia was, despite the repeated conflicts, moving toward his objective of a unified, liberal Germany.72 In 1868, the Progressive Party split due to disagreements over whether it should support Bismarck, and the National Liberal Party was formed from its fragments.73 The previous year, Bismarck had formed the North German Confederation, essentially a Prussian-led arrangement of its German-speaking allies, featuring 22 states. It would provide the model for the subsequent unified Germany. Bismarck now instituted a Reichstag—though with limited powers—to make decisions for the body and gave all men the vote, against the wishes of many Prussian politicians. Bismarck believed that a majority of the population held conservative positions on many of the key issues of the day.74

	After the other political formations governing the Germanic areas of Europe (dating back to the 9th century in the case of the Holy Roman Empire), the North German Confederation (in German: Norddeutscher Bund) was the final, formal construct on the road to a unified Germany. The Confederation came into being in July 1867 and lasted just over three years. Officially a collection of separate entities making collective decisions at a central plenary (by now in Berlin), it had some similarities with the 1815-66 Confederation as well as a number of key differences. Unlike its predecessors, the North German Confederation was clearly dominated by one member: Prussia. It contained 80% of the Confederation’s population, totaling 30 million, and was its economic and military powerhouse. Whereas the previous unions had been loose confederations, this version saw a convergence in several important spheres, from the law to trade, and it accelerated Prussian supremacy over the other German states, rapidly bringing them into a formal governing arrangement.

	In retrospect, a key measure had been the aforementioned Zollverein, which had accelerated trade and economic and business contacts between the participants. The Confederation sought to incorporate all of its members into the Zollverein, such as the Hanseatic cities of Hamburg and Bremen, which had not previously been members. Infrastructure investment, particularly in the railways, had also strengthened Prussia’s relative position. After 1867, Berlin sought to bring laws, practices, and standards closer together. These policies were enacted by the liberal-conservative coalition dominant in Prussia’s government. As such, although Bismarck’s military guile had made unification more likely, he was aided in this period by parliament in its attempt to "normalize" the Confederation into a modern, European nation. The Confederation’s political system was split into the directly voted Reichstag and a Bundesrat (Federal Council), where representatives from the individual states discussed policy. A figurehead (president) and a government led by a chancellor were also in place. In practice, these were the Prussian king and its chief political leader, Wilhelm I and Bismarck, respectively. Prussian parliament was still in operation but was now subordinate to a greater, Prussian-administered power.  

	Part of Bismarck’s unique skill was to balance competing interests at the heart of both Prussia and the North German Confederation. Many German speakers, particularly in the southern states like Baden-Württemberg and Bavaria, were wary of Prussia and preferred to keep their autonomy rather than join the new Confederation. France was also concerned about the growing Prussian power. Bismarck managed to deal with all of these challenges through his own version of Realpolitik. He was an authoritarian at heart, and his immediate challenge in the late 1860s was to deal with liberal voices in the parliament. The newly-formed National Liberal Party won the 1867 Reichstag elections, with conservative parties finishing second and third.75 However, many liberals were unhappy with the authoritarian direction in which German policy was moving. Some supported Bismarck’s strategy and others refused, therefore splitting the movement into clear camps in terms of nationalist sentiment. 

	Ultimately, Bismarck’s militarism and related success on the battlefield drew respect from other sections of society who may have otherwise been opposed to the use of force,76 and which cowed many liberals into supporting further ventures of that sort. For the development of Prussia and then of Germany, the period was crucial. The country moved down a path that was more conservative, nationalist, and militaristic than it might otherwise have taken under different circumstances.

	Moreover, Bismarck’s belief that many ordinary people were conservative and nationalistic rang true, as evidenced by the rise in specific German forms of culture and intellectual work during the 19th century. Some historians posit that the greatest achievements of German culture during this period were in the realm of classical music.77 Composers such as Mozart, Beethoven, Bach, Schubert, Schumann, Wagner, and Mendelssohn were considered masters of the art form. 

	The inclusion of the final two figures on this list demonstrates that while much of the drive toward a unified German nation was positive in nature, there were ugly undercurrents at hand. Liberal nationalists agreed on the expansion of political rights and freedoms within a unified Germany, and that language, culture, and tradition-bound people of the region together. Indeed, the German states, under the guise of the Holy Roman Empire and its successors, such as the 1815-1866 Confederation, permitted a degree of personal liberty often greater than in other areas of Europe. At the same time, however, if national sentiment can be inclusive and unifying, history has shown that many contain an uglier side, one that defines who belongs to the group and those who do not. While foreign enemies were recognized by nationalists, they also pointed the finger at members within German society, most notably the Jews, who had already suffered centuries of exclusion and persecution across Europe. 

	Felix Mendelssohn was a leading German composer during the first half of the 19th century, and he was the grandson of Moses Mendelssohn, a well-known philosopher during the 18th century. Initially outsiders, the Mendelssohn family was appreciated by broad sections of German society and became friends with many contemporaries. By the mid-19th century, however, a mood of anti-Semitism was beginning to spread across the German-speaking world. This was made clear in the work of Wagner, a vindictive anti-Semite. In September 1850, Wagner published Das Judenthum in der Musik (Jewishness in Music), which attacked Jews in general, as well as the work of Felix Mendelssohn. Wagner’s views were but one example of how certain sections of German society were not welcome in the unified German nation, and of course, the anti-Semitism of the 19th century would mutate into the horrors of the 20th century and the Holocaust.

	In addition to these different views of the German nation, a particular view of historical development began to be articulated in the 1860s. Known as the Sonderweg (or "Special Path"), a school of thought developed that Germany was a fundamentally different creation in comparison to its European peers.78 This came to encapsulate economic and social reforms imposed from those in authority. As a result, Germany did not develop robust democratic institutions the same way such institutions took hold in countries such as France, the Netherlands, and Britain. Prussian leaders constructed this constitutional arrangement in the two decades after the 1848 revolutions, and in doing so, the united Germany had a specifically authoritarian character.

	The Franco-Prussian War

	From 1867, Bismarck played a waiting game where the unification of Germany was concerned, as the joining of the southern states—initially resistant to Prussian rule, friendly with Austria, and bent on independence—would have to be overcome.  What was needed was “a clear case of French aggression”79 toward either Prussia or the southern states.  Not only would such a move by Napoleon III trigger the terms of the treaty between the German states, but it would keep the remaining world powers out of the conflict.80
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	Napoleon III

	It would be a dispute over the throne of Spain that would cause Napoleon III to act. During a revolution, Queen of Spain Isabella was forced to flee Madrid. Spain was divided over who would rule, and the other European nations had a decided interest in the matter.  In the months that followed, Prince Leopold of Hohenzollern was suggested as a fitting heir.  His name, as well as many others, circulated amongst the powerful and the influential.  Some have suggested Bismarck had orchestrated the naming of Leopold as successor to tie Spain to Germany, but most historians dispute his direct involvement in the matter.  Leopold’s attractions included the fact that he was “the husband of a Portuguese princess, related both to the royal house of Prussia and to Napoleon III, and with several sons to carry on the line.”81  Though many candidates were considered—including Leopold’s younger brother, Charles, who was a ruling Romanian prince—they were deemed unacceptable to some party of influence in heavily fractious Spain, unacceptable to hold such a great power, or they were uninterested.  

	Bismarck believed Leopold’s acceptance of the crown would be an advantage for Prussia, though Napoleon had announced his opposition to Leopold.  Bismarck wrote to convince his king, “In the long run, we must expect the preservation of peace, not from the goodwill of France, but from her impression of the strength of our position.”82

	The reaction to Spain’s surprise announcement regarding Leopold provoked outrage across France, given the general feeling that his candidacy had been a plot hatched by Bismarck and that France would simply never accept a Hohenzollern on the Spanish throne.  After much internal debate in the houses of Prussia, Leopold’s name was withdrawn, but for an angry Napoleon III, this was not enough.  He demanded Wilhelm provide “a written guarantee of Leopold's refusal and a promise not to revive the candidacy in the future.”83

	Bismarck did not care much for control of the Spanish throne, but for world perception with respect to French influence in Prussian affairs.  For Wilhelm I to have given in to this pressure, for Leopold to have withdrawn and France to feel as if she had “won,” was unacceptable.  Reading the king’s conciliatory telegrams to the French enraged Bismarck, who considered resigning.84  When Bismarck received the king's account of his interview with the French ambassador, he edited the language to make the confrontation between Wilhelm I and French Ambassador Benedetti more combative than it had been in an attempt to recover Prussian dignity.  Bismarck’s account read, “After the news of the renunciation of the Prince von Hohenzollern had been communicated to the Imperial French government by the Royal Spanish government, the French Ambassador in Ems made a further demand on His Majesty the king that he should authorize him to telegraph to Paris that His Majesty the king undertook for all time never again to give his assent should the Hohenzollerns once more take up their candidature.  His Majesty the king thereupon refused to receive the Ambassador again and had the latter informed by the adjutant of the day that His Majesty had no further communication to make to the Ambassador.”85 

	The impertinence of the French toward the Prussian king, the Hohenzollerns, and their presumption of right in the matter quickly turned public opinion against the French in Prussia.  Bismarck fanned the flames by taking an offended tone. "It was impossible that Prussia could tamely and quietly sit under the affront offered to the king and to the nation by the menacing language of the French government,” he said. 

	Believing France had prepared for success in a quick war against the Prussians, Napoleon III took the bait and declared war against Prussia on July 19, 1870.86  The French declared war as much against Bismarck as they had against Prussia, believing he had manipulated the Spanish ascendancy in an effort to seek power, rather than peace.  A wartime poem reveals this animosity for Bismarck rather than his German “slaves,” as felt in France at the outset of war:

	“Who is this G[erman] fat but quick?

	The hound that crouched ’neath B[ismarck’]’s stick

	What time the plunderers of the Dane

	Quarrelled about their shameless gain.

	Beery and fat and scant of wind

	He puffs along the battle plain

	For is not B[ismarck]’s ‘stick’ behind?

	Who’s dead to honor, lives to pain.

	This is your G[erman], fat yet quick

	Driven to war by B[ismarck]’s stick.

	What is this G[erman]’s lawful prize?

	Whate’er finds favor in his eyes.

	The accursed one who hounds him on

	Knows well his self-respect is gone.

	He fears his reckless discontent,

	And so in devilish mood

	Delighted sees it find a vent

	In rapine lust and blood.

	That is this German’s lawful prize

	Whate’er finds favor in his eyes.

	What does his master hope to gain?

	That does not seem so very plain.

	To inscribe in each historic tome

	Another rush of Goths to Rome?

	Seeks he the immortality

	Of him who fired Diana’s shrine,

	Or with the ambition cursed is he

	With Caliph Omar’s fame to shine?

	What then does B[ismarck] hope to gain?

	I give it up—my quest is vain—

	But what then will this G[erman] gain?

	The answer is both full & plain—

	Contempt from every honest man

	The thief’s reward, the murderer’s ban,

	When Europe’s slow but sure police

	Are set upon his bloody track

	And all shall feel that lasting peace

	Requires he should be beaten back.

	These will the rabid Germain gain

	Fettered at length in Europe’s chain.

	But are not G[erman]s civilized?

	Is justice not among them prized?

	These statements which have long been made

	But yesterday were not gainsaid

	But he who runneth now may read

	Unlikely as it may seem

	This quiet content, devoid of greed

	Is but an empty dream.

	For Germans are not civilised

	Say rather they are brutalized.

	What should the wretched F[rench]man feel,

	Downtrodden by the G[erman]’s heel?

	Glad that the veil is drawn aside

	Which did so long the monster hide

	That lust of Blood & Rapine rife

	Are plainly now revealed

	Which secretly preparing strife

	Were but by Tartuffe’s cant concealed.

	This satisfaction he may feel

	Though crushed beneath that brutal heel…

	But, Frenchman, though thou feel the curse,

	Rejoice—thy foeman’s case is worse.

	When from his hordes thy land is free

	Thou shalt enjoy thy liberty—

	He, crushed beneath an iron hand,

	With none from ‘stick’ to save,

	May yell in praise of Vaterland

	But is not less a Slave!

	Hurrah—each mangy skulking hound

	In Bismark’s leash is firmly bound.

	All honor, Bismark, to thy stick

	Which makes thy beery slaves so quick—

	But act with caution—have a care—

	And dread the vigor of despair!

	Even Germans may at last feel shame

	The ‘stick’ so long to bear

	Syne play to thee this pleasant fame

	For ‘turn about’ is fair.

	And Frenchman will pronounce it ‘chic’

	When Bismark’s slaves give him the ‘stick.’”87

	Ahead of the war, the French inflated their military strength. In July 1870, France was able to mobilize half a million regular troops and 400,000 conscripts, but its military doctrines were in need of updating, and its war machine was found hopelessly wanting by the Prussians and their allies. Meanwhile, Prussia counted on the assistance of the southern German states, enacting their secret security pact. As a result, facing the French were 300,000 regular troops and 900,000 conscripts. 

	The German forces mobilized far quicker, which was just one example of the superior organization of the Prussian-led armies. Since the Napoleonic Wars, Berlin had a permanent general staff, which was unusual for its time, and the institution planned for seemingly every eventuality. The Germans had put into place an infrastructure aiding any war effort. For instance, they built railway tracks designed for troops and military hardware with dual tracks so they could simultaneously move material to and from the battlefield. The French, on the other hand, only had single tracks, which made them much less efficient.

	The Franco-Prussian War started in August 1870, and a number of victories followed for the Prussians in battles in northeast France. By September, the strategic city of Metz was under siege, and forces fought a major battle at Sedan. Led by Field Marshal Helmuth von Moltke, the Prussians forced the French to surrender at Metz, and then at Sedan. Emperor Napoleon III, commanding his country’s forces at Sedan, was taken prisoner, humiliating France and its impetuous leader. 
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	A painting depicting the surrender of Napoleon III

	The Prussians immediately marched on Paris, but the capital refused to submit, and a separate siege was mounted that ended up lasting 130 days. Obviously, French society was in tumult, but a Third Republic and Government of National Defence was pronounced in place of the French Empire. An uprising subsequently took place in the stricken city, dubbed the "Paris Commune," which sought to establish a radical alternative to the status quo and was itself put down by French troops.88

	Prussian forces besieged Paris starting in September 1870, and although French units attempted to make inroads at battles in the north and east of the country, the Prussians were in comfortable control of the conflict. Food was becoming scarce, and an armistice was signed on January 26, 1871 with Paris on the brink of starvation. The Prussians lost 45,000 men during the conflict, while France suffered almost three times as many dead and wounded. The French government accepted the terms of its defeat with the Germans, which would prove a painful experience, and for their part, the Prussians could avenge the humiliation of the Napoleonic occupation and the treatment at the hands of the French conqueror 65 years earlier. 

	To Napoleon, defeat meant territorial annexation and financial reparations, and the same treatment was now to be meted out in reverse. France was forced to recognize the new German Empire and pay five billion francs in reparations, the exact equivalent of what Napoleon had levied in 1807. 

	A peace treaty was signed, the Treaty of Frankfurt, on May 10, 1871, and as a part of the treaty, Prussia annexed the predominantly German-speaking region of Alsace-Lorraine (known as Elsass-Lothringen in German), including Strasbourg, the ancient center of the region.89 The German Army returned to Berlin and marched triumphantly (and with historical symbolism) through the Brandenburg Gate on June 16, 1871, marking Prussia's complete recovery from its lowest point in 1806.90

	German Unification

	On January 18, 1871, King Wilhelm I was crowned Kaiser of the German Empire, and though the Franco-Prussian War was still taking place, this moment was essentially the point at which Germany was unified. The other German states had to agree to this profound constitutional change, but they acquiesced after the clear victory of the Prussian-led forces. German unification was the territorial expansion of Prussia by another name, but Berlin demonstrated it could protect the interests, or at least the safety, of German-speakers under their watch. 
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	Kaiser Wilhelm I

	Despite the campaigns of nationalists and liberals over the previous decades, it was ultimately a victory on the battlefield that united the German states. This was the real-world application of Bismarck’s "Blood and Iron" concept. From this position of strength during war, Prussia achieved an unassailable position. During the relatively short wars of 1864, 1866, and 1870-71, Bismarck roused nationalist sentiment, and in so doing, he achieved the long awaited goal of German unification. 

	Nevertheless, the manner in which Germany was united drew much criticism. Prussia was at the head of a militarized state led by an authoritarian regime. This version of a German Reich would move irrevocably toward the First World War, which started 43 years after the Empire’s founding. For many, nationalism became a substitute for political participation in the unified Germany.91

	Kaiser Wilhelm I was crowned in the "Hall of Mirrors" in Versailles, further humiliating the French. Assorted princes and rulers of the various German states were in attendances. Officially, the new states were incorporated into the North German Confederation, but the term German Reich was used almost immediately, and historically, once the 1871 Treaty of Frankfurt was signed, a unified Germany came into existence. 
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	A painting depicting Wilhelm I’s coronation as emperor

	In order to gain agreement from the constituent states, the German Empire retained a federal structure. Germany contained 26 states at the time, including the overwhelming hegemon of Prussia, which operated similarly to the Confederation. The Reichstag received representatives through direct (male) suffrage, as well as the appointed Federal Council (the Bundesrat). The Chancellor and Kaiser, however, had significant power and could set the agenda and direction of policy. 

	Political power was not disbursed in this new Germany. Although Germany appeared to offer its people more democracy than its European rivals like Britain and France, it lacked accountability. German liberals have also been criticized for their complicity in this system through support of the elites at the expense of the people.92 With that said, no matter how the parliament may have been constituted, it was the Kaiser who appointed the Chancellor, which explains how the apparently democratic Germany could easily pursue its authoritarian path under Bismarck.93

	It goes without saying that the unification of Germany would have a profound impact on the history of Europe. Both the internal and external policies of the new German Empire would affect the course of politics over the subsequent 75 years, and from the Scramble of Africa to domestic anti-Semitism, decisions made in the early years of German unification would come to affect future generations, often in tragic ways.

	The most notable immediate change was the elevation of Germany to a position of significant international clout. Germany proved itself a military force to be reckoned, and Berlin would play a key role in every major international crisis in the next decades. In 1873, one of Bismarck's first moves was to construct the "League of the Three Emperors",94 bringing the German Kaiser, Austrian-Hungarian Emperor, and Russian Tsar into an alliance. The Chancellor’s main concern was France, and he consistently attempted to marginalize the country. In other ways, Bismarck sought to maintain or extend German influence while preserving a balance of power on the continent. Historian Misha Glenny takes the view that Germany began to “disrupt Europe’s equilibrium” soon after its unification.95 This manifested itself in a series of conferences aimed at diplomatic crisis management. For instance, Bismarck chaired the 1878 Congress of Berlin after the conflict between Russia and the Ottoman Empire. The conference set out new territorial borders in the Balkan region, as Bismarck was keen to avoid overly weakening the Ottomans and thereby strengthen Russia’s geopolitical position. At the 1884 Berlin Conference, the major (and some minor) European powers convened to divide territory for colonization in the so-called "Scramble for Africa".96 The reprehensible agreements culminating from the latter conference led to such arrangements as Belgian King Leopold II’s acquisition of the Congo, subsequently bringing some of the worst of the European powers’ numerous atrocities against civilians. Germany, however, saw itself as keeping the peace in Europe while improving its own position. 

	As a result of Bismarck’s diplomacy, Germany built an overseas colonial empire, including German New Guinea in the Pacific, as well as Togoland, Cameroon, Namibia, and German East Africa (today Tanzania, Rwanda, and Burundi).

	German intellectual output also took on a particular tenor after unification. The role Realpolitik played in the years before 1871 has already been discussed, but a number of other principles also came to prominence, the most obvious being the idea of Machtpolitik or power politics. Bismarck demonstrated the threat or application of military force could be a very effective foreign policy tool,97 which, nevertheless, proved problematic for European politics. After 1815, Europe was nominally under the Concert of Vienna system, which set out mechanisms for dealing with disputes between states through diplomacy. Although war had clearly not been abolished in Europe, the strategic conflicts leading to German unification altered the post-1815 status quo. The period after 1871 up to the outbreak of World War I in 1914 saw several crises in which states faced off against one another, and war was back on the table as a tool of foreign policy. 

	One embodiment of this trend in German politics was historian Heinrich von Treitschke. An outspoken nationalist and National Liberal Party member of the Reichstag from 1871, von Treitschke was indicative of a number of establishment views in the first decades of the German Empire. In 1879, he published a History of Germany in the 19th Century in which he set out his pro-Prussian and nationalist take on history. Von Treitschke advocated for a German colonial empire and the expansion of Germany through conquest. These views were later incorporated into the Weltpolitik (World Politics) that became fashionable in Germany after Bismarck. Von Treitschke was symptomatic of another trend in Germany during the 1870s and 1880s, that of intolerance of those who did not fit a particular vision of the Reich. He would also defend a strong, powerful central state against greater democratic accountability.98

	The concept of any individual nation-state is contested, and some Germans believed that a unified Germany should include all German-speakers. From this point of view, the 1871 unification was incomplete, as many still lived in various parts of the Austro-Hungarian Empire and other parts of Central and Eastern Europe.99 Nationalism also has an inherent exclusivity that manifested itself in Germany at several moments, including after 1871. Von Treitschke encapsulated this in his racism, embodied in animosity toward Catholics and anti-Semitism.100 As the German Empire developed, a number of cultural clashes occurred and set Germans against each other. One such policy was Bismarck’s so-called Kulturkampf, or culture struggle, in which German national sentiment took a more sinister turn. Historians such as Hans Mommsen believed that a core failing of the 1871 unified state was its exclusion of minorities, particularly Catholics, from the new arrangement.101

	The new Germany benefited economically from unification, and it entered into somewhat of a boom in the 1870s, known as the Gründerjahre (founding years).102 This expansion improved the standard of living for much of the population and meant that Germany had rapidly begun to catch up and threaten to overtake its European contemporaries. In the 40 years after unification, Germany’s GDP tripled. 

	Economic progress, however, was not necessarily matched by societal development. At the inception of the German Reich, Chancellor Bismarck was concerned that a number of the new states were not in sympathy with the idea of a unified country. The southern states—such as Bavaria and Baden-Württemberg—were predominantly Catholic, and northerners like Bismarck believed they were resistant to the new status quo. As a result, Bismarck wanted to break the political link between the Catholic Church and the Catholic population. This set of policies, dubbed the Kulturkampf, lasted for most of the 1870s and was supported by many liberals who had long backed a secular state separating religion from political life. Measures including greater state oversight into education, including schools run by Catholic churches, were taken, as were numerous other laws attempting to assert national law over Church control or custom. Catholics believed all Christian denominations were being merged into a whole, thereby extinguishing their particular character.103 Many Catholics felt this was persecution and a specific targeting of ethnic minorities, Poles in particular. 

	Bismarck did not stop with the Catholic Church. The Kulturkampf was part of a wider attempt to curb dissent and any threat to the new empire. Policies were also enacted that threatened several groups, from socialists to Jews, as part of a raft of authoritarian legislation. 

	As Germany’s economy rapidly expanded after 1871, workers flocked to the commercial and industrial centers. A growing working class started to organize and agitate for social reform. In Germany, this was embodied by the popularity of the Social Democratic Party (SPD: Sozialdemokratischen Partei Deutschlands), founded in 1863. As well as improved worker’s rights and better working conditions, the SPD promulgated ideas posing a threat to both the monarchy and the aristocracy. As a result, Bismarck passed legislation attempting to prohibit social democracy. In 1878, the SPD was banned. Simultaneously, Bismarck sought to pacify some of the social democrats’ demands by introducing welfare reforms, including the world’s first pension system.104 This only managed to fuel demands for further measures, and tacit support for the (now illegal) SPD only grew in the 1870s and 1880s. Politics in Germany drifted toward a pattern seen in many European countries, a polarization between conservative and socialist doctrines. In Germany, social democracy was criticized by commentators such as Wilhelm Marr as undermining the German nation and aligning with Jewish people in Germany, both of which were characterized as alien to German culture. 

	Along with other cultural trends, like the opinions of composers such as Richard Wagner—anti-Semitism was taking root and growing in a unified Germany. Marr founded the "League for anti-Semitism" in 1879 and anti-Jewish sentiment proliferated in public life. The mainstream political parties began to incorporate anti-Semitism into their platforms, often citing Jews as "foreign". In 1879, historian Heinrich von Treitschke infamously pronounced that “the Jews are our misfortune.”105 Max Weber attended von Trietschke’s lectures in Berlin as a student in the 1880s, recalling that in his lectures, anti-Semitism was met by “frenetic jubilation”.106 There were clear precedents in these decades for what led to the Holocaust in the 20th century, yet in this period, amongst the growing violent anti-Semitism around Europe, the Reich was seen as a safer option than in many other countries. In fact, many Jews fled to Germany in the final decades of the 19th century to escape persecution and pogroms in Tsarist Russia. 

	As this all suggests, the liberalism that was prevalent in Germany in the mid-19th century was in decline. Political discourse had been captured by nationalism, militarism, and to a lesser extent, socialism. 

	Bismarck’s Fall from Power
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	Bismarck in 1875

	Kaiser Wilhelm I, having worked with Bismarck for 27 years, died in 1888.  His son, Frederick III, took the throne but followed his father in death only a few months later, which left the throne to Wilhelm’s grandson, the 22-year-old Wilhelm II.107  
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	Wilhelm II

	Ironically, Wilhelm II’s mother, Victoria, suspected many courtiers, especially Bismarck, of conspiring against her and Frederick III and depriving them of power by treating Wilhelm II as the true emperor. In turn, the dislike Wilhelm II had for his mother was only intensified by his father’s short reign, and by the time Frederick III passed away, the rift between mother and son was so deep that it could hardly be mended. Bismarck watched with delight as the relationship between mother and son deteriorated, for he knew that he needed to begin to influence the future ruler long before the young Wilhelm II took over the throne. Bismarck, however, would learn that Wilhelm II had an independent streak. 

	Indeed, Bismarck and Wilhelm II were a mismatch from the beginning. Bismarck had previously been able to control the previous emperor through a mixture of genuine and protested loyalties and regular threats of resignation, but that would not be the case with Wilhelm II. The first great break between Wilhelm II and Bismarck came before the former even took power, after Wilhelm II expressed a desire for a war against Russia; Wilhelm held increasingly hostile views toward Russia ever since his second visit there in 1886, and anti-German feeling was prevalent in Russia because of Bismarck’s support of Austria to the Russians’ disadvantage in the Balkans. However, Bismarck was not willing to share Wilhelm’s lust for war, because he was familiar with the complexities of internal Russian politics and did not see war as an inevitable result. Wilhelm shot back by publicly repudiating Bismarck’s policy toward Russia and Austria, and though Bismarck retorted privately to a friend that he had no intention of going to war with Russia, in public he claimed that a war with Russia was a possibility. All the while, the two began drifting apart.

	Wilhelm II’s first act as the new emperor was to address the Prussian army, a fittingly symbolic choice since it set the tone of his whole reign and made clear military affairs would be the supreme expression of his interests. And as he had demonstrated earlier, he continued to battle vice. One of the first acts of the new sovereign was to wage a campaign against the drinking clubs popular among the officer corps; only a few weeks after assuming the throne, Wilhelm II ordered army commanders to prevent all army officers from frequenting such clubs. 

	The emperor then proceeded to tackle more serious matters. In the summer of 1888, acting on his belief that the officers’ ranks were getting on in years, Wilhelm began to cull the ranks of the more elderly and feeble officers, leading to accusations that he was micromanaging who received key posts.108 For example, Wilhelm appointed his long-time friend, General Count von Waldersee, as Chief of the General Staff, and the two began to make changes to numerous military positions. Part of what made General Count von Waldersee attractive to Wilhelm was his staunch anti-Russian attitude. In the same vein, Wilhelm insulated himself by his tendency to appoint likable officers as his adjutants, and in reference to these elegant soldiers who were chosen for their appearance and social standing, later Chancellor Prince Hohenlohe would call them the “Chinese wall.” Wilhelm was also accused of taking revenge on officers who opposed him well before he ascended the throne.

	Wilhelm’s focus on military matters and his tendency to take advice and direction exclusively from a small coterie of military men had other effects as well. Even though he would end up ruling for 30 years, historians have pointed out that his connection with his subjects was weak and narcissistic. The sovereign was insulated from the realities of Imperial Germany by the fact that he had a very small group of close confidants, all of whom were dependent on the throne for their positions. 

	Nevertheless, Wilhelm sought to be the ruler of all his subjects despite that insulation, and in the early years of his reign, Wilhelm introduced reforms aimed at expanding his base of support. He made plans to open up the officer corps to the middle-classes, and he also appointed notable progressives to high profile posts in the military.109 Through these measures, Wilhelm enjoyed considerable popularity with the working class, at least in the beginning. For a while, he was perceived as “the workers’ King.” It was due to the influence of Wilhelm’s early tutor Hinzpeter that the young emperor paid such attention to the lower social classes. Wilhelm II believed that government must grant concessions to the poor as an antidote to Bismarck’s repressive labor policies, and Wilhelm II was only in power for less than a year before his ideas were tested. Strikes began in the coal industry in the Rhineland and in Silesia in May 1889, leading Prussian troops to quell the violence. Wilhelm believed the strikes were caused by Polish Catholic fanatics, whom historians now say bore only part of the responsibility. Wilhelm’s opinion was that the entire Rhineland had been neglected by the industrialists as soon as they made their quick profits. The Rhineland industrialists did not, in Wilhelm’s opinion, create favorable conditions like those that existed in the state factories of Silesia, and Wilhelm was determined not to begin his reign with bloodshed. Thus, he ordered his military to protect workers against employers, which he believed was the only way to decrease the incidence of labor violence.

	On the same front, the emperor allowed the first deputation of workers to visit the palace to express their grievances and expectations for an 8 hour work day. Wilhelm II urged the industrialists to negotiate with labor, which led to a settlement within two weeks, and he took great relish in the fact that he had been the cause of the agreement.110 On the other hand, Bismarck was horrified; in his mind, the working class could never be appeased and had to be coerced into its proper position. Bismarck rejected the emperor’s insistence that the working classes be brought on board the planning of social programs as equal participants. Although he had created social welfare legislation that was unique for Europe at the time, Bismarck believed the state should act repressively in the wake of socialist electoral victories. Bismarck was waging what he viewed as preventative class warfare.

	The disagreement over how to deal with the strike in the Rhineland and Silesia was merely the first major argument between the two powerful personalities. The first conflict before an audience of public officials took place on May 12, 1889, at a meeting of ministers. Bismarck held that the situation should be allowed to worsen in order to allow a pretext for more sweeping action against the agitators, but the emperor expressed his viewpoint that the demands of the workers should be considered since any further worsening of the situation would weaken the Empire. As that debate made clear, it was apparent from the beginning that the chancellor would need to handle his boss carefully. The emperor obviously intended to be the dominant force in both domestic and foreign policy, and the chancellor quickly learned that he would have to adapt to the emperor’s demands on every day matters. 

	However, after spending decades as the de facto dictator of the empire, Bismarck found it difficult to relinquish power. The year 1890 began with the two figures still arguing over policies toward workers, and the two squared off over the contents of Wilhelm’s speech to open the parliament’s annual meeting. The emperor insisted on appeasing the coalition of Social Democrats and their Catholic allies with a new round of socially progressive legislation that would protect the working class, while Bismarck’s response was that he would rather resign than give in to the Social Democrats. The emperor opined to his confidants that the chancellor had become increasingly difficult to deal with, but he still needed Bismarck to help assure passage of an increasingly large military budget later in the spring.

	On January 24, Wilhelm II opened the parliament with a detailed speech on the labor question; the miners’ strikes of the previous year in the Rhineland had created an atmosphere that had to be dealt with. He admitted that the explosive growth of German industry had allowed exploitative publicly traded companies to come into existence, mistreating workers and pushing them into the willing arms of agitators. The success of socialist agitators was due, said the emperor, to government’s inability to providing reforming labor legislation. The emperor struck a middle line by saying that the government must pass progressive legislation on the side of the working man without tolerating exorbitant demands that would injure Germany’s ability to compete on the world market. In the same speech, he rejected the demands for an 8 hour work day and a 50% increase in wages that had been demanded by miners in the Rhineland. 

	As expected, Bismarck’s response to the speech was negative, and by the end of January 1890, Wilhelm II had reached a decision on a replacement for Bismarck. He called General Leo von Caprivi, the commanding general of the Tenth Army Corps, to Berlin and told Caprivi that in the event of a final break with Bismarck, Caprivi would be his desired successor. 
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	Caprivi

	Meanwhile, by mid-February, Bismarck was hoping for an opportunity to use the ever growing possibility of a coup d’etat as a pretext for setting aside the constitution of 1871 and disbanding parliament. Recently held elections weakened Bismarck’s position and required that in the future he make amends with the Catholic Center and Social Democrats, but the fear of a coup was not enough to put Bismarck and the Kaiser back on equal footing. As historian Michael Balfour put it in The Kaiser and his Times, when Bismarck was aware that time was running out on him, “All Bismarck's resources were deployed; he even asked Victoria to use her influence over her son on his behalf. But the wizard had lost his magic; his spells were powerless because they were exerted on people who did not respect them, and he who had so signally disregarded Kant's command to use people as ends in themselves had too small a stock of loyalty to draw on. As Lord Salisbury told Queen Victoria, “The very qualities which Bismarck fostered in the Emperor in order to strengthen himself when the Emperor Frederick should come to the throne have been the qualities by which he has been overthrown.” The Empress, with what must have been a mixture of pity and triumph, told him that her influence with her son could not save him for he himself had destroyed it.

	Despite the advice of advisers that he should sack the chancellor, Wilhelm II was still hesitant to do so. He was concerned about public opinion and the passage of the military budget, but due to an ongoing dispute over a document that the emperor requested from Bismarck, Bismarck submitted his resignation on March 19. He was finally finished with the chancellor.
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	A famous political cartoon, titled “Dropping the Pilot”, depicts Bismarck leaving the ship of state while Wilhelm II looks on from the deck.

	Though Wilhelm II publicly claimed Bismarck had retired due to ill health, Bismarck spent the rest of his life making it clear that he had served Wilhelm I faithfully and had no use for the new ruler. In his resignation, Bismarck made both his loyalties and disappointment clear: “Considering my attachment to service for the monarchy and for Your Majesty and the long-established relationship which I had believed would exist forever, it is very painful for me to terminate my accustomed relationship to the All Highest and to the political life of the Reich and Prussia...Judging from my impressions over the past weeks…I have reason to reverently assume that I am accommodating the wishes of Your Majesty with my request for discharge, and thus I am able to rely with certainty on the gracious approval of my request. I would have submitted the request for dismissal from my offices to Your Majesty earlier, had I not been under the impression that it was Your Majesty’s wish to make use of the experience and talents of a loyal servant to His ancestors. Now that I am certain that Your Majesty does not require these, I may withdraw from political life without fearing that my decision will be condemned as untimely by public opinion.” 

	Though Bismarck would continue to criticize the young emperor publicly, the two were reconciled at a meeting in 1894. By that time, Bismarck had lost his wife and his health. He died in July of 1898, having left instructions for his tombstone’s inscription to be: “A Faithful German Servant of William I.”111

	Bismarck had been skillful - and often divisive - in his conservative politics, but he had almost singlehandedly maintained stability. In other hands, Germany would prove a much more combustible creation. 

	The Start of World War I

	By the 20th century, warfare was nothing new to the European powers, especially when it came to fighting each other.  Conflicts had been a mainstay on the European continent for over two millennia.  Even after the Napoleonic wars had enveloped Europe in large scale war for nearly 20 years in the 19th century, the Europeans’ imperialism continued unabated.  It would take the devastation of World War I to shock Europe and jolt the world’s superpowers out of their imperialistic tendencies. 

	After Napoleon and the French were was finally defeated in 1815 by a coalition of European nations, Europe went about their most serious attempt to create peace on the continent.  Even before the fighting had ended, most major European powers had been meeting in Vienna and established a congress in 1814.  A series of agreements were reached between the coalition and the defeated French to end the fighting.

	However, the Europeans continued to conduct business as usual, spending much of the 19th century engaged in imperialism across the world.  The natural response of the European nations was to establish alliances that would maintain at least a balance of power.  In 1873, German chancellor Otto van Bismarck reached an alliance with Austria-Hungary’s despot and the Russian czar.  The French signed alliances with Britain and Russia, who had left its previous alliance over tension brought about by Austria-Hungary’s intervention in the Balkans.  By then, Italy had joined the German alliance.

	Although a couple of wars were fought on the European continent during the 19th century, an uneasy peace was mostly maintained across the continent for most of the 19th century after Napoleon.  Despite this ostensible peace, the Europeans were steadily conducting arms races against each other, particularly Germany and Britain.  Britain had been the world’s foremost naval power for centuries, but Germany hoped to build its way to naval supremacy.  The rest of Europe joined in on the arms race in the decade before the war started.  

	With Europe anticipating a potential war, all that was missing was a conflagration.  That would start in 1908, when Austria-Hungary annexed Bosnia-Herzegovina in the Balkan Peninsula, drawing it into dispute with Russia.  Moreover, this upset neighboring Serbia, which was an independent nation.  From 1912-1913, a conflict was fought in the Balkans between the Balkan League and the Ottoman Empire, resulting in the weakening of the Ottoman Turks.  After the First Balkan War, a second was fought months later between members of the Balkan League itself.  

	 The final straw came June 28, 1914, when a Serbian assassinated Archduke Franz Ferdinand, the heir to the throne of Austria-Hungary, in Sarajevo, Bosnia.  Although there had been explicit displays of commiseration and sympathy for Austria and widespread condemnation of Serbia’s actions in the immediate aftermath of Franz Ferdinand’s assassination, the attitude of the great powers towards Austria as the notional aggrieved party became substantially chillier as Austria insisted on virtually bullying Serbia over the whole affair. The British Prime Minister, Asquith, complained in an official letter that Serbia had no hope of appeasing Austria diplomatically, and that the terms of the July Ultimatum would’ve been impossible to meet even if Serbia was willing to do so. Indeed, it appears as though such an exacting document had been drafted precisely because Serbia didn’t have a hope of complying, even if they had so wished, and thus Austria-Hungary would be able to go to war and punish them properly for the outrage perpetrated against their royal family. 
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	The Archduke and his family in 1910
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	Contemporary media illustration depicting the assassination
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	A propaganda cartoon after the assassination that asserted “Serbia must die!”

	100 years removed from the assassination, it might be unfair to say that it caused World War I, but it certainly started it. Historians still debate whether the Great War would have occurred even if Franz Ferdinand and Sophie lived out their lives in peace and comfort, but many believe that while it might’ve come months or years down the road, it was inevitable. The tangled web of alliances at cross-purposes, the growing diplomatic tensions, the arms race, the belligerence of newly powerful states such as Germany, the interference in other sovereign countries’ affairs, and the relentless politicking all pointed towards one tragic outcome. 

	As for the parties themselves, it’s apparent that much of the blame can be shouldered by the Serbian government. To this day, it’s still unclear how much the King and Prime Minister knew about the plots and actions carried out, but they were obviously privy to the official communications that involved the conspirators, which included the head of Serbian Military Intelligence. Furthermore, it was the Serbian government, not the Black Hand (which at that point was virtually synonymous with Dimitrijević and Military Intelligence in any case) that provided Princip, Grabež, Cubrilovic, and the other conspirators with their firearms, explosives, training, and the means to cross the border into Bosnia. The People’s Defence, the clandestine group within Bosnia, had been almost completely taken over by Serbian Military Intelligence and was effectively acting as a shell organization. Government officials from several different agencies had colluded with the conspirators on many occasions, with the end result that on the day of the assassination, the assassins were in place, suitably organized, well-armed for their purpose, and ready for action. At the same time, there are strong indications that several officials within the Serbian government (with or without sanction from on high) attempted to warn their Austro-Hungarian counterparts of what was to come.

	Another country that must bear a share of the blame is Russia. According to the confession given by Dimitrijević at the end of his 1917 trial in Salonika, Russia was fully aware of his activities, and he had no reason to lie at that point. Indeed, according to Dimitrijević, the Russian Military Attachè in Belgrade had guaranteed that Russia would stand with Serbia against Austria-Hungary in the event that the operation was compromised, and that he had received funds from Russia to carry out the assassination. An investigative journalist attempting to uncover the truth received a fairly unconvincing testimony from the Russian Military Attachè, who denied any involvement. The Russian Military Attachè claimed that his Assistant had been in charge during the period leading up to the assassination, and that Dimitrijević never apprised him of his plans or intentions. It has also been suggested that the Tsar, or at the very least the Prime Minister, were aware of a forthcoming attempt against Franz Ferdinand’s life and were not opposed to it happening. Russia had a vested interest both in weakening the Austro-Hungarian Empire and in destabilizing its hold on the Balkans as this might well potentially give it access to the strategically invaluable Mediterranean ports without having to pass through the Turkish-controlled Bosphorus and Dardanelles straits, which hampered its attempts to increase its naval power outside of the Black Sea. 

	Even Austria-Hungary, despite being the aggrieved party, had a hand in what followed the assassination. The Austro-Hungarian military had resisted many attempts at pacification with Serbia, including policies advocated by Franz Ferdinand himself, and it continued to pursue a policy of aggressive saber-rattling. Furthermore, the Governor of Bosnia, Oskar Potiorek, was a rigid and stubborn individual who viewed Slavic patriots as a national security threat and ruthlessly punished them accordingly, further inflaming anti-Austrian sentiment in a newly created province that required the most delicate of management rather than hamfisted pacification attempts. His refusal to countenance the use of improperly dressed troops to shield Franz Ferdinand and his halting of the motorcade in a vulnerable position near the bank of the river were symptomatic of his stubbornness, and his decision to remain idle while Sarajevo tore apart the homes of hundreds of innocent Serbs is evidence of his poor character. 

	Ironically, one of the few people who had no blame in what was to come was Franz Ferdinand himself. A choleric individual with the typical Austrian aristocrat’s condescending attitude towards the subordinate Hungarian population, he was nonetheless no more prejudiced than many during his time and a great deal less than most; after all, he married a woman from the Czech aristocracy who was beneath his station. On top of that, his attitude towards Serbia and the Slavic issue was remarkably conciliatory for someone in his position. He went to his death unwittingly even after bravely continuing his public appearance despite having a hand grenade hurled at him. It is unfortunate for Franz Ferdinand that his birth and position made him an ideal target, but as history and fate would have it,  he was simply the right man in the wrong place at the wrong time.

	Though nobody can know for sure, it’s altogether possible that World War I would have still broken out even if Franz Ferdinand had not been murdered. Regardless of events in the Balkans, Germany was already bellicose, France and Austria were concerned and involved, Russia was outwardly aggressive but also dealing with internal dissatisfaction, Italy was poised on the brink, and Britain was desperate to remain aloof but committed to its continental allies and a host of smaller countries clamoring for independence. Europe was too explosive to be rescued by any but the best of diplomats, if at all. 

	Germany During the War

	While the Kaiser was full of bluster about war, he was actually convinced that war abroad was dangerous as long as the socialists presented a threat at home. In 1912, he allegedly told Bülow that war abroad was only realistic after socialists at home had been “beheaded.”112 By 1914, however, events would change that opinion.

	European powers had spent much of the 19th century engaged in imperialism across the world, and their natural response was to establish alliances that would maintain at least a balance of power.  When Bismarck formed an alliance with Austria-Hungary and Russia, the French subsequently signed alliances with Britain and Russia, which had left its previous alliance over tension brought about by Austria-Hungary’s intervention in the Balkans.  By then, Italy had joined the German alliance. 

	The Kaiser was aboard his yacht, the Hohenzollern, on the afternoon of June 28, 1914, when the telegram arrived announcing the assassination of the Archduke Franz Ferdinand and his wife in Sarajevo, the capital of Austrian Bosnia. The assassination of the heir to the Austrian throne had been carried out by Serbian nationalists, and both the Austrians and the Kaiser believed the time had come to deal decisively with Serbia. The Kaiser and chancellor von Bülow surmised that if the government in Serbia could be found responsible for the assassination, it would be a just cause for a war, and Wilhelm was actively engaged in war preparations from this time to the actual invasion of Luxembourg on August 2.

	Although the assassination was a matter of local politics in the Balkans, the Kaiser took the assassination of the Archduke as a personal insult, and he felt Serbia had to be punished. The view was shared by the Austrian sovereign Franz Joseph, who urged the “elimination” of Serbia in a letter to the Kaiser.113 The Kaiser called his military staffs on July 5 to ask them if all military options remained open should Austria decide to take action, and the staff assured them that Germany could fulfill any commitments the Kaiser made to Austria. Although Wilhelm urged Austria to take strong action, it is not clear that he expected the situation to lead to a war that brought in the other European nations; Wilhelm believed that an unwillingness to fight among the French and Russians would lead to a quick resolution of hostilities as a local matter between Austria and the Serbs.

	On July 19, after learning that Austria was prepared to give Serbia a forceful ultimatum, Wilhelm took great precautions to prepare Germany for war. On the 28th, Wilhelm received news that the Serbs has acquiesced to most but not all of Austria’s demands, and when Vienna found the Serb reply unacceptable and declared war on Serbia later on the same day, the Kaiser cancelled his planned vacation to his castle at Wilhelmshöhe. The Austrians commenced shelling Belgrade later that day.

	Despite Wilhelm’s reported sense of agitation in the weeks following the assassination, and his apparent readiness for war, during the weeks following the outbreak of World War I, Wilhelm convinced himself that the situation could be resolved with diplomacy. He thought the supposed slow mobilization of forces provided time for negotiations and cooler heads to prevail, and he also looked toward the moderating influence of England, who held some sway over its French and Russian allies. However, all communications from England indicated that it held Germany responsible for the actions of Austria.114

	As Germany descended into war with the invasion of Luxembourg on August 2, all thoughts turned to Wilhelm’s role as commander in chief. Wilhelm had always said that should the Fatherland go to war, he would play the decisive role as the nation’s chief warlord, but after the outbreak of hostilities Wilhelm promised that he would not micromanage military operations. Courtiers noticed that the Kaiser’s mood changed after the outbreak of war, so eventually he was only shown optimistic reports while the bad news was suppressed.115 Wilhelm complained that he was kept at bay, but the Kaiser, who before 1914 saw himself as the supreme authority on peace and war, was cast aside as irresponsible and untrustworthy when the hour of need arrived.

	While the Kaiser did not directly manage troop movements or question the judgment of his top generals, he frequently expressed his prediction that France would fall quickly, perhaps within two weeks. When General Erich Ludendorff swept into Belgium and captured the fortress of Liège after a difficult fight, the Kaiser claimed the war was nearly over, and that the newly acquired land would be parceled up and resettled by German soldiers and officers.  Critics claimed that the Kaiser changed his war goals from day to day, never developing a clear idea of what the postwar German borders should look like, with the exception of what might transpire in the east.116 The Kaiser expressed to his son Oskar a grander scheme for German expansion in the east that would have implications for many decades to come. The Kaiser envisioned making a Polish state out of Russian territory which would be governed by a German prince, while Germany would absorb the Baltic provinces of Lithuania, Latvia, and Estonia. He had much the same visions for the Russian territories that Germany would occupy throughout the war.

	Of course, the Kaiser and his leaders were surprised by the strong opposition put up by the unprepared Belgian civilian population, and that delay allowed the British and the French to begin constructing an elaborate system of trenches that would be used throughout the four-year war. The victories of August 1914 were not repeated in September, and in the middle of that month the southern flank of the German army retreated to the Marne while the northern flank continued its march toward the coast in the hopes of taking Calais. This created a disaster in the city of Ypres, where after a two-week onslaught witnessed personally by the Kaiser, the Germans were forced to retreat. The medieval city was destroyed, and 80,000 soldiers were killed.

	After the Ypres fiasco, the Kaiser agreed with his advisors that resources from the eastern front should be repositioned in the west, which proved just how urgent the situation was because the Russian army at one point was within 100 miles of Berlin. When the German armies under Hindenburg and Ludendorf completed their counter attack, they achieved two of the greatest Germany victories of the war, one at Tannenberg at the end of August and later at the Masurian Lakes, where the Russian forces were nearly completely destroyed. Nevertheless, as the year 1914 drew to a close, Germany’s original plan of a lightning victory in the west followed by a concentration on the eastern front was now in shambles.

	As the ultimate authority in Germany, it was up to Wilhelm to resolve numerous debates, not just within the military establishment but also debates between the military and civilian powers. The diplomatic corps believed that strategic planning for war and war aims should be the work of diplomats, a role that the military was unlikely to relinquish. The role of Kaiser Wilhelm after 1914, therefore, was one of a supreme judge who was presented plans and programs which he could endorse or veto. At the same time, the Kaiser was in some ways a throwback to the past when it came to the sense of chivalry that the war would bring. When the subject of unrestrained submarine warfare came up, the Kaiser was at first clear in his position. Late in November 1914, he addressed a group of bankers and insisted that the Empire’s swords must remain clean. “Always realize that our swords must be clean. We are not waging war against women and children. We wish to fight this war as gentlemen, no matter what the other side may do.”117

	Nevertheless, Wilhelm eventually agreed with his advisors that the sale of munitions to Germany’s enemies by means of passenger cruise lines must stop. In February 1915, he reluctantly agreed to a policy of unrestricted naval warfare against commercial shipping. All ships believed to be carrying military equipment to Germany’s enemies were a fair target. This policy would have huge consequences on America’s stance during World War I.

	Although the U.S. was officially neutral at the beginning of the war, by winter 1914 the nation was already upset with one of the sides: the Allied Powers. Under international maritime law, navies in a state of war could only seize merchant ships not flying the enemy’s flag if they had reason to believe the ships were aiding or supplying the enemy. Of course, the Allied Powers had no reason to think that of American merchant ships, but both sides were maintaining tight blockades or attempting to from the outset. Britain sought to blockade German goods, while Germany sought, less successfully, to do the same against British imports and exports. In the beginning, the Allied powers’ conventional naval superiority was used to blockade the continent, while the Germans relied on their innovative U-boat submarines to harass Allied commerce. This had a material effect on the U.S., which by maintaining neutrality sought to trade with the European nations but found itself unable to because of the war. President Wilson protested that both nations stop blockading neutral countries’ ships, and he even had his ambassador to Britain lodge an official protest. 

	His calls went unheeded, though the Germans did agree to restrict submarine warfare against American ships. But the Germans made waves in the U.S. with the 1915 sinking of the British cruise liner HMS Lusitania, which took nearly 1,200 people down with it, including 123 Americans. It had long been speculated that a second explosion that quickly sunk the boat was evidence of arms smuggling. The Lusitania was carrying millions of rounds and small arms weapons, which was not a secret, but it is now believed that the main explosion came from a boiler, not from explosive weaponry. Wilhelm later claimed he was appalled at the deaths and would not have approved an order firing on the ship if he had known that innocent passengers were aboard. On June 1, 1915, Wilhelm, fearing the entry of the U.S. into the war, issued an order that neutral ships be spared.

	In the west, which was long considered the main theater of war for Wilhelm, the two sides were locked in a stalemate. Despite years of military planning that sought a quick victory in the west followed by a longer war in the east, forces in the west were bogged down in trenches that stretched for miles through France and Belgium. Meanwhile, the British remained in control of the English Channel and thus could resupply and reinforce the trench soldiers almost indefinitely.

	As the highest adjudicator in the land, Kaiser Wilhelm was called upon to choose between contradictory war strategies put forward by rival factions within the army. The western front was commanded by Erich von Falkenhayn and his civilian counterpart Bethmann. Meanwhile, as Field Marshal Hindenburg and his quartermaster Ludendorff fought back the Tsar’s forces on the eastern front in late 1914, they were also fighting political squabbles and trying to unseat Falkenhayn.

	The effects of the squabbles between military leaders became apparent in the spring of 1915 while the Germans were driving back Russian troops. Hindenburg and Ludendorff both believed that victory was achievable if their forces were backed up with troops from the west; the two generals believed that they could force the Russians to sue for peace, leaving the entire army open to fight in the west. Falkenhayn, in contrast, felt that he should be given every available soldier to be prepared for the forthcoming crushing of the Allied line. In the end, in what Hindenburg later called the most difficult decision of the war, the Kaiser sided with Falkenhayn. It was believed the Tsar could be forced to negotiate only if the Russians were not only driven from Poland but if the Romanov dynasty capitulated. Even still, the Kaiser, while essentially supporting Falkenhayn’s, strategy urged him to release some troops for a successful advance on the eastern front in the summer of 1915. Waged together with Austria, it reduced Russia’s southern frontier to ruins, but despite the advances into Poland and the occupation of most of Belgium and a small part of France, the Germans were far from victory. In the beginning of 1915, the German use of chlorine gas on the western front was a great price to pay for so few gains, and the Germans were only able to maintain control of what they previously had without any offensive gains.

	By the middle of the war, the Kaiser began a policy of watching and waiting. His navy moored at port because of British naval superiority, and the trench warfare was not producing movement. The Kaiser thought that Germany had to wait for the opportune moment to attack Britain, but other advisors, such as Admiral Tirpitz, believed a waiting period was bad for morale. He sought in vain to convince the Kaiser to continue unrestrained submarine warfare, and as 1916 was rung in, thoughtful observers were convinced the war could not be won. Among the public, patience was being lost; after a few quick victories in 1914, the public had become weary. With the daily sacrifices on the home front increasing rapidly, the public began to demand some sort of victory or a cessation of hostilities altogether.

	As usual, the Kaiser tried to distill any question or problem into human terms, believing that his relationships with other individuals were all that was needed to secure a positive outcome. Long before the war, the history of Imperial Germany under the Kaiser had been shaped by the attempts made by courtiers to capture the Kaiser’s ear or coax the Kaiser with sycophantic words into supporting the courtiers’ plans, which could later be supported by presenting only good news on the topic. The Kaiser could be convinced that only he governed Germany, while in fact he was a mere figurehead. This was how the Kaiser operated before the war, and the war seems not to have changed that dynamic. During the war, the Kaiser continued to promote and listen to the people he liked regardless of outcome, and the worsening situation that Germany found itself in did not lead him to critique himself or his role in it. 

	One such change of circumstances that conspired to pit courtier against courtier occurred when Rumania entered the war on the side of the Allies. Convinced that this meant the end of the war because German troops would be needed to come to the aid of the Austrians, the Kaiser turned toward Hindenburg and Ludendorff, thinking that they were the only two people capable of waging the war on both fronts. Their popularity among the public was also no small measure in case Germany would have to sue for peace. With the resignation of Falkenhayne, any illusion that the Emperor was the chief warlord of the country was deflated; from this point forward, it was clear that Hindenburg and Ludendorff were the supreme war leaders. Ludendorff ended Falkenhayne’s habit of hiding bad news from Wilhelm, and Ludendorff had little patience with the aristocratic courtiers that surrounded Wilhelm and sought to filter out bad news.

	Taking over strategy against Rumania, two large German forces commanded by Falkenhayne overran Bucharest and occupied most of the kingdom. Brimming with optimism, the Kaiser awarded Hindenburg a special order of the Iron Cross, which had not been granted since the Napoleonic wars. Still, by 1916, the Kaiser had no choice but to reconsider the diplomatic preparations for the reintroduction of unrestricted submarine warfare. Wilhelm believed it was the only possible way to win the war, and alternatively the Kaiser considered the idea of suing for peace since the German army had possession of large areas of enemy land. In late 1916, he directed his new state secretary of the interior, Karl Halfferich, to contact President Woodrow Wilson. If the offer was made and Germany’s enemies declined, it would give renewed energy to the claim that the only way to peace was through unrestricted submarine warfare.

	In January 1917, Wilson urged Germany to enunciate peace conditions. Germany sought a return to the status quo, an increase in German colonial territory, and indemnities for the losses of the war. When the Allied powers rejected those terms, Wilhelm was free to wage war by any means necessary, and he signed an order that unrestricted submarine warfare was to commence on February 1. 

	Despite campaigning on his commitment to neutrality, President Wilson had been left with a tough decision by 1917. That year, the world learned that Germany was trying to coax Mexico into war against the United States.  The Zimmerman Telegram, when Germany requested an alliance with Mexico against the United States, convinced Americans that Germany was indeed a threat to national security, and such a war would directly affect the U.S. homeland, which had not seen war since 1812.  On top of that, with increasing hostilities between the two nations, the Germans vowed to return to a policy of unrestricted submarine warfare in the Atlantic. With that, Wilson requested a declaration of war from Congress, and received it on April 4, 1917.  In his message to Congress, Wilson framed the war as a quest to make the world safe for democracy.  The United States' mission, Wilson reassured Americans, was not to ally with Britain and France; instead, it would be an “associated” power, fighting its own, more idealistic, mission: the security of all people living in democratic countries. The federal government hired as many as 1,000,000 additional employees just to coordinate the production of food, materials, and soldiers to fight the war.  Elsewhere, the Navy, which before the war had sufficient men to man only about 10% of its fleet, endured significant recruiting.  The draft kicked in, and the U.S. ultimately mobilized over 4 million military personnel in the short period of less than one full year.  The Selective Service Act, which instituted the draft, recruited about 2.5 million men alone.

	 

	Germany had calculated that the U.S. would be unable to mobilize and send men to Europe in less than 2 years, and they hoped to win the war before America could make a difference.   Unrestricted submarine warfare was by any measure a success greater than predicted. Britain was beginning to feel the effects in foodstuffs just a month later, which forced the British to buy food from France, which was also running in short supply. Wilhelm was equally pleased with news of the downfall of the Russian Tsar, who abdicated power in March 1917. His successor announced that he would continue the war against the Central Powers, but Wilhelm believed the Russian Republic would not last long and seems not to have feared that the same chain of events were capable of happening in Germany. It was Bethmann who was much more concerned that events in Russia might prove a model to disaffected factions of Germans.

	During the winter of 1916 and 1917, Wilhelm’s authority within the executive was weakened by two developments. First, there was a drastic increase in power of the military leadership over the civilian government. The clash between Hindenburg and Ludendorff on the one side and chancellor Bethmann on the other increased until it was clear that Bethmann had to go. Also, throughout the war, after an initial “truce” known as the Burgfrieden, domestic developments unfolded that placed pressure of Wilhelm from both ends of the spectrum. On the left, a faction of the Social Democratic Party broke ranks and denounced the war. After 1916, there were increasing calls for rewards for the working class that was fighting in the trenches. On the right, an ultranationalist network with roots in the military called for annexations of neighboring territory and the rejection of any reforms called for by the Social Democratic Party. As the war dragged on without victory, Wilhelm’s subjects began to acutely feel their sacrifices. Prices soared and food rationing was instituted. Starting in the spring of 1917, increasing shortages of food and the influence of the Russian revolution had created a very hostile situation. 

	French and British allies welcomed American forces with enthusiasm.  After years of war, the Allied powers were tired and looked to their American counterparts for relief, and some movement in the quagmire. But for much of 1917, things went the Central Powers’ way.  The Bolshevik Revolution had led to Russia quitting the war, allowing the Germans to transfer soldiers to the Western front, and the Allied Powers had suffered a decisive defeat in the Nivelle Offensive of May 1917, as well as another defeat in November at the Battle of Caporetto in Slovenia. Incredibly, despite three years of being on the same side of the war, the French and British had not bothered to coordinate their commands until after those defeats; they finally formed a Supreme Council to coordinate their armies’ movements and strategies. 

	To everyone's surprise the United States was sending an astounding 10,000 men a day over the Atlantic Ocean to Western Europe by the early spring of 1918, within less than a full year of mobilization.  The nation had cut everyone's expectation in half, leading the sides to push for a more decisive ending immediately. The Germans began an offensive in March, a strategy crafted in part on the belief that American forces would be unprepared to arrive in Europe for another year.  Germany hoped, therefore, to push Britain and France far enough back to eliminate them from the war, leading to a one-on-one with a subpar American military that Germany bet it could win.

	Initially, the offensive broke through the Allied lines and pushed them to within less than 100 miles of Paris. However, at the Second Battle of the Marne, Germany only passed the Marne River for a brief time before being pushed back and defeated decisively by French forces.  The results of the Spring Offensive were mixed for Germany: while it made modest territorial gains, its troops were severely depleted in the process.  Before the Offensive, Germany had a strategic advantage over the Allies in terms of total soldier enlistments.  That advantage was reduced to parity as a result of the failed Offensive.

	The Germans found themselves right back where they started in July, but now facing the prospect of having to deal with hundreds of thousands of additional American troops. Thus began the final period of the war, the Hundred Days Offensive.  After battles at Somme and Amiens, the Allied Powers were able to break the Hindenburg Line, moving rapidly towards Germany territory.  The momentum was now clearly with the United States, with little Germany could do to turn the tide.

	The Spring Offensive and Plan of Attack

	From March 21-July 18, 1918, the German armies launched their last great offensive – the Kaiserschlacht. The “Kaiser’s Battle” consisted of four main offensives launched all along the northern portion of the Western Front: Operations Michael, Georgette, Gneisenau and Blucher-Yorck. The objective of the Kaiserschlacht was simple: all-out victory or ruinous defeat, death or glory. There was no other alternative. The stalemate of the Western Front had sapped Germany and Austria’s resources, while in the Mediterranean their ally Turkey was suffering against ANZAC and Imperial troops. While the collapse of Russia as a nation had freed dozens of divisions from the icy bloodbath of the Eastern Front, these troops were battle-weary and lacking equipment, hardly crack reinforcements.

	The Allies themselves were hardly in better shape, the French army in particular having been all but bled dry, although Italy and even Portugal were providing some much needed reinforcements. However, there was one key factor which had the German High Command seriously worried, and led to the all-or-nothing assault on the Western front: the entry of the United States into the war. Although the initial commitment of the US was a small Expeditionary Force, equipped primarily with French vehicles and armor, these were high-caliber reinforcements – fresh and eager with previous campaign experience. Above all, Germany knew that once America was well and truly committed, its overwhelming superiority in industrial output (untouched thus far by war) and potential troop numbers would dwarf any other army currently in the field. Because of this, the Allies had to be crushed swiftly and decisively, and if this could not be achieved, Germany would lose.

	At this point in the war, Germany was still, with millions of men under arms and enough materiel to supply them, a fearsome fighting force; it was not yet the dying but still lethal beast it would be during the Hundred Days Offensive. Yet as powerful as it was, the German Army was feeling the strain. In All Quiet on the Western Front, Erich Maria Remarque (who served in World War I himself) paints a harrowing portrait of the state of the army at that time (albeit through the eyes of a semi-fictional set of characters), which sums up better than any other description the state of the Deutsches Heer.

	“Our lines are falling back. There are too many fresh English and American regiments over there. There's too much corned beef and white wheaten bread. Too many new guns. Too many aeroplanes.

	But we are emaciated and starved. Our food is bad and mixed up with so much substitute stuff that it makes us ill. The factory owners in Germany have grown wealthy;--dysentery dissolves our bowels […]

	Our artillery is fired out, it has too few shells and the barrels are so worn that they shoot uncertainly, and scatter so widely as even to fall on ourselves. We have too few horses. Our fresh troops are anaemic boys in need of rest, who cannot carry a pack, but merely know how to die. By thousands. They understand nothing about warfare, they simply go on and let themselves be shot down. A single flyer routed two companies of them for a joke, just as they came fresh from the train--before they had ever heard of such a thing as cover.

	‘Germany ought to be empty soon,’ says Kat.”

	Despite their forces being stretched perilously thin, on March 21st, 1918 the German Army launched a full-scale assault, the brainchild of General Erich Ludendorff (after whom the offensive is sometimes named). The main assault, Operation Michael, was launched in the Somme area against the (primarily) British and French troops stationed there, with the other assaults being corollary attacks designed to pin down any reinforcements which might otherwise have been funneled into the Somme battleground to halt the German advance. The broad outline of Ludendorff’s scheme was in a similar vein to the original intent of the Schlieffen Plan; the intention was to break through the center of the Allied defenses and split them apart, shattering the defensive line and, ideally, driving all the way to the sea in order to sever the lines of supply and reinforcement which made them so stolid and impregnable. The British Army would be outflanked, encircled, and starved or battered into submission, at which point, Ludendorff believed, the French would surrender.
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	Ludendorff

	Initially, Michael was a remarkable success. Following the most extensive and prolonged barrage of the war, German stormtroopers assaulted British and French positions, travelling across No Man’s Land with lightning speed and storming the enemy trenches before the defenders had a chance to take their place on the firesteps and man the machine gun positions after the barrage. In terms of territorial gains, the Spring Offensive was actually one of the most successful in the entire war up to that point, second only to the initial German assault in 1914. During the course of the entire offensive, the Allies lost over 800,000 men (most of them French and British) killed, captured or wounded, and in Operation Michael alone, the Germans took or destroyed 1300 artillery pieces and 200 tanks.
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	A German tank at the start of the offensive
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	A picture of German soldiers advancing past a British trench during the Spring Offensive 

	Ultimately, however, the Kaiserschlacht was a disaster for the Germans. The Allied line bent but did not break, and the German offensives were held up everywhere, unable to secure the vital breakthrough which would have enabled Ludendorff’s plan to achieve strategic success. The Germans themselves lost almost 700,000 men, and their well of manpower was far shallower at this point than the Allies’, particularly with the Americans yet to seriously commit to the war. Crucially, the 700,000 dead were almost all from the elite German stosstruppen regiments, highly trained, fit, veteran infantrymen who were at this point irreplaceable given the dwindling source of German wartime manpower. Additionally, the very success of the operation was part of its downfall; the German stormtroopers could cover rough ground at speed, but the same was not true for their supply lines and reinforcements, who struggled to forge ahead through the shell-blasted territory of no man’s land and the wreckage of what had been the Franco-British lines. The main forward element of the German Army found itself occupying a vulnerable salient that could be assaulted from three sides, short of ammunition, food and medical supplies, and essentially cut off from the main force of the advance.

	 The German forces, camped on the Marne, were vulnerable, starving, bereft of ammunition and heavy artillery, and by July they had reached the end of their tether. The French General Ferdinand Foch, the newly commissioned Supreme Allied Commander, launched the Marne Offensive in early July, engaging the Germans in the Second Battle of the Marne. Second Marne was an unqualified success, as the fragile German lines collapsed under a new assault by fresh Allied troops and fell back to the defensive positions they had occupied prior to the Spring Offensive. 

	The Kaiserschlacht had been the last gasp of a dying giant; it had given the Allies a serious scare, but they had weathered the storm and could now retaliate with the hammer blow which would break the German resistance once and for all, thereby bringing about the fabled “end to all wars”. All that was needed was the plan, men, materiel, and will to decisively defeat the Germans. 
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	Foch

	At this point, the men and materiel were certainly present. The American Expeditionary Force, under General John Pershing, was at full strength, with more reinforcements promised and commanders eager to see it operate as an independent force. France, perhaps the most populous country in Western Europe, still had vast numbers of men under arms and others still ready to commence training, and its military machine was churning out tanks, airplanes, and weapons by the thousands. The British Army had also been recently reinvigorated by a fresh surge of reinforcements dispatched from England, as well as battle-hardened troops freed from the fighting in Italy and Palestine. 
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	Pershing

	The plan finally agreed upon was the brainchild of British Field Marshal Sir Douglas Haig. Haig suggested that the main assault be launched in the Somme region, avoiding the site of the 1916 Battle of the Somme as the terrain there would be too shell-blasted to permit a rapid and effective advance and reinforcement. This was especially a concern for Allied tanks, which they intended to use in previously unmatched numbers. 
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	Haig

	The plan would work in conjunction with previous plans put in place by Haig for an assault near Amiens, thus driving the Germans away from the Paris-Amiens railway (which provided the supply nexus for much of the troops in the area). It was also the hinge-point between the French and British troops (and the site of the main offensive of the Kaiserschlacht), which would allow for a more effective joint operation than had previously been possible, particularly given the newly centralized High Command. Tanks could operate on the flat, relatively unscathed terrain of the area with a maximum degree of effectiveness, while they would be more likely to be bogged down further north, where the ground was marshy and soft. There were also fewer forests in this area to block their advance, and it was unlikely that the troops the Germans had in the area would be able to resist a concerted attack, as they had been harassed by Australian forces for weeks and were short of supplies and vital equipment. 

	The German Army was nearing the end of its effectiveness as a fighting force, but it was not yet spent, and victory was not a foregone conclusion. Indeed, plans were in place based on the assumption the war might well continue for a number of years. The Germans still held a vast swath of French territory, and though they were short of ammunition and decent rations in some areas, they were only slightly outnumbered by Allied soldiers at this point. Moreover, while the Germans were almost totally deficient in armor, this would not necessarily be an issue when fighting defensively, and they could muster more heavy and superheavy artillery than at any other point in the war, along with the munitions to use them. Although they had been driven back from the costly gains made during the Spring Offensive, they were not necessarily finished as an offensive force and could well muster the strength to attack again if not engaged decisively, comprehensively, and immediately. Indeed, part of the reason that the Hundred Days campaign was launched so shortly after the Second Battle of the Marne was to prevent the enemy from consolidating forces any further than they already had up to that point in time. 

	The First Blow at Amiens
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	A painting depicting the Battle of Amiens

	The Hundred Days campaign began with an assault in the Amiens region. Field Marshal Haig, who prior to the appointment of Foch as Supreme Commander had operated at his own discretion – and sometimes, to an extent, at cross purposes with his ally – proposed a plan he had drawn out for the British Expeditionary Force to counterattack against the German advance. This involved the BEF’s III Corps under Lt. General Richard Butler, the Fourth Army under General Henry Rawlinson (headquartered in the Somme region) and the Australian Corps, commanded by General John Monash, which provided the crucial hinge element between the British and French forces. It was Monash’s men, while probing and raiding against the German troops in the area, who had been able to establish that they were vulnerable to a serious, concerted assault, and these soldiers confirmed the viability of the terrain to the type of operation that was envisaged by Haig. Monash himself provided the early draft of a plan which was then passed up to Haig, who in turn circulated it to Foch in late July. 
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	Monash
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	Rawlinson

	However, Foch, as new Supreme Commander, did not want the operation to be a purely British one. Thus, he insisted that French First Army, the unit which held the line southwards of Monash’s Australians, also be involved in the operation. Haig protested, claiming (to an extent legitimately, although doubtless there was also a degree of professional pride and egotism involved) the First Army was underequipped for the operation that was planned. Specifically, they lacked the vast numbers of tanks which would be required to spearhead the assaults envisioned by Haig and Monash. 

	The new plan involved avoiding a large-scale preliminary bombardment, which though destructive also notified the enemy that an attack was imminent. Instead, in a maneuver that heralded the rise of blitzkrieg warfare 20 years later, the attack was to be led by a sudden advance of tanks against the enemy positions, crossing no man’s land with infantry in support at speed to get out of the enemy artillery’s killing range. Monash’s troops had experience at this type of assault, having carried it out successfully at Hamel on July 4th and defeating heavily entrenched German forces, the kind of success that would previously have taken weeks under conventional strategies. 

	A compromise was eventually reached, despite misgivings on both parts. First Army would launch a concurrent assault, but they would wait 45 minutes before Fourth Army’s attack before opening their bombardment of the enemy lines to allow the element of surprise to be preserved. The attack would be launched against the Germans on August 8th in order to catch the Germans still pulling back from the Marne Salient on the run. Along with Monash’s Australians, General Arthur Currie’s Canadian Corps would also be employed as shock troops and be in the vanguard of the assault. The infantry would advance in support of a massive tank deployment, 580 in all, with the ANZAC troops receiving 168 Mark V tanks. The rest of the tanks were dispersed throughout the army, with the Cavalry Corps receiving the lion’s share of the new Mark A Whippet Light Tanks, almost 100 all told.
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	A British Mark V tank

	Although there would be no large-scale preliminary bombardment, there would be an opening barrage by around 1400 field guns and 700 heavy guns in support of the Fourth Army alone to weaken the German defenses. By this point in the war, British artillerymen were able to “fire off the map” thanks to aerial reconnaissance and sound ranging, thus landing their very first shot exactly where they wanted it rather than having to test and forewarn the enemy that a barrage was coming. Monash and Haig calculated that they could strike over 500 of the 530 German guns in their sector when the command was given, which would render enemy artillery fire far less effective.

	Given the importance of surprise, secrecy was a key element of the entire enterprise. The Germans had to believe that no attack was coming – hence the lack of a preliminary bombardment – in order to minimize casualties and maximize the effectiveness of the entire operation. This was relatively easy to achieve, given that by this point the German Air Corps had been neutralized as a credible fighting and reconnaissance force and the Allies could count on virtually total air superiority, thereby masking any movement that was invisible to the naked eye from the German lines. To complete the deception, a small detachment of troops was conspicuously sent away from the site of the main assault, ostensibly to set up a headquarters there. Thus, if the Germans caught wind of any chatter regarding movement of Allied troops, they would likely assume that they were being directed to a completely different area. 

	On August 6th the German forces in the area mounted a relatively small-scale attack but were unable to penetrate the Allied defenses and thus were unable to discover (even by accident) what was coming. By August 7th, all the forces required for Haig’s plan were massed in their muster points and ready to strike. The Battle of Amiens was about to begin.

	On August 8th, 1918, at 0420 hours, the battle began as the III Corps launched its attack north of the Somme, while the main bulk of Fourth Army, with the Canadian and Australian Corps front and center, hit the German lines south of the river. General Debeney’s French First Army, in accordance with the agreement between Haig and Foch, began its bombardment at the same time and launched its assault 45 minutes later, albeit with a single battalion of 72 Mark A Whippets provided by the British. It took a whole five minutes for the Germans, who were in a state of readiness due to their recent raid but not expecting a major assault, to begin returning fire, by which point it was almost certainly too late. In fact, the confused Germans directed their fire at the muster points for the attack, which at that point had been completely vacated by the assault troops.

	To the north, the spearhead of Fourth Army’s assault - 7 British, Australian, Canadian and American divisions - captured over 2 miles of German ground in just over three hours, fighting through the enemy entrenchments at high speed. They then let the supporting elements roll through and past them and invest the next series of objectives, capturing an additional 1.8 miles of ground across the whole fighting front. Shortly after 0800, the Australians and Canadians held all their objectives. Exploiting the momentum of their advance, they then launched the third and final phase of the assault, which had initially been expected to require Mark V troop carriers but was ultimately accomplished by the infantry alone.
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	Australian soldiers during the battle
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	William Longstaff’s painting of German prisoners being taken to Amiens

	The Allies had driven their spearhead deep past the German defensive entrenchments, but after such a strenuous advance, the infantry could hardly be expected to keep fighting. They paused to regroup, rearm and snatch a meal while the Cavalry Corps (a brigade in support of the Australians and two full divisions in the Canadian sector) now peeled off and continued the advance. In the sky above, RAF fighters machine-gunned the German troops as they streamed away from their defensive positions, preventing officers from rallying them in the open field.

	III Corps was less effective in its assault north of the Somme, as they had been provided with only a battalion of Mark Vs and were therefore more vulnerable to enemy fire. Additionally, the ground had been severely churned by previous assaults and thus slowed the advance, allowing the Germans to regroup atop a steep ridge and pour down effective defensive fire on the advancing troops. However, despite being held up, the III Corps still achieved its initial series of objectives. 

	Meanwhile, in the center of the assault, ANZAC forces also made a significant inroad into the enemy lines, punching a hole 3 miles deep across a 15 mile front in roughly 6 hours of hard fighting. The Australians and Canadian shock troops advanced so rapidly that in several instances they captured staff headquarters filled with officers who had thought themselves secure miles behind the front line, gaining a significant amount of intelligence in the process. 

	By the middle of the day, the combined Franco-British assault had succeeded in capturing over 16,000 Germans, with at least a further 15,000 killed or wounded, against a butcher’s bill of approximately 9,000 British and ANZAC infantrymen. It was a truly remarkable victory, not merely in terms of the ground captured and the casualties suffered (usually the attackers, even when successful, suffered as many casualties as defenders) but due to what the large numbers of prisoners captured portended. German soldiers in isolated or semi-isolated positions had been unwilling to fight on, even to the point of refusing the orders of their officers or calling back younger, more eager soldiers new to the frontline. This marked a turning point in the entire war; it was a sign that, although not broken, German morale was failing at last, and if they were hit hard, fast and often enough, they would surrender. Allied tactics further augmented the devastating effect of shock combined arms assaults on enemy morale because they frequently captured enemy command posts, leaving troops without any leadership and thus even less likely to continue the fight on their own.

	By sunset, the Allies had  pushed the German lines back over 7 miles across the entire front of their advance, aside from where the French had attacked (the gains had been slightly smaller) and where the British III Corps had been held up after capturing 2 miles of German trenches. To the German forces, August 8th became known as “the Black Day of the German Army.”

	The following day, the attack continued once the troops had been given the chance to rest and resupply through the night. However, the assault, like the German inroads made during the Spring Offensive, began to falter as the logistical supply train was simply not up to the task of keeping up with the infantry. The British, French and ANZAC forces tried to spread north and south of the assault area to enlarge the bite they had taken out of the German defensive lines, but they ran into stubbornly effective defense there. Furthermore, the Allied troops could no longer count on the massed vanguard of tanks to shelter them from assault that they had been protected by on August 8th, as they were being knocked out of battle far faster than they could be replaced. Within a week, the Allies lost 500 tanks, many of them destroyed or “brewed up” by enemy fire, but the vast majority simply suffered from lack of fuel or mechanical failure. Even the Mark V, far more reliable than its predecessors, would still consume virtually its own weight in spare parts in its lifetime and had a relatively small operational range. To make matters worse for the Allied infantry, they were now so far ahead of their own lines that they had outranged their own guns, which could no longer be relied upon to neutralize the German guns or machine gun emplacements.

	Despite these problems, the Allied infantry were still able to make a decent degree of progress, capturing the village of Chipilly and outflanking the main German strongpoint in the area (Chipilly Ridge), which had held up the advance of the British III Corps on the previous day. Fighting continued, albeit with less ferocity, for the next four days, by which point the advance across the entire front of the assault totaled some 12 miles overall. In the following days, the British, Australian and Canadian forces continued a slow and methodical advance, driving relentlessly forward and capturing over 500 pieces of enemy artillery and 50,000 men by the end of the month. They had also pulled out of virtually the entire area that they had succeeded in occupying during the Spring Offensive.
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	A picture of German prisoners taken by the Fourth Army
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	Picture of a captured German anti-aircraft gun at Amiens

	The Second Battle of the Somme 
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	Allied soldiers during the Second Battle of the Somme

	Despite Ferdinand Foch’s new appointment as Supreme Allied Commander, it was difficult for the Allies to agree upon a uniform strategy, as Haig and Foch frequently did not see eye to eye. On top of that, the commanders of the Australian and Canadian forces, although subordinate to Haig, also had their own input, as did General Pershing. Accordingly, when Foch ordered Haig to resume the Battle of Amiens on August 15th, Haig flatly refused, arguing that his troops could not make anywhere near the gains they had achieved the previous week now that they were so far ahead of their own artillery. Supply lines for ammunition, food, water, medical equipment and casualty evacuation had to make do with congested tracks snaking across miles of what had previously been No Man’s Land and German fortifications, too. It would simply be too costly in terms of lives to resume the assault in the Amiens area.

	Rather than listen to Foch, Haig decided to strike to the north against the as yet untouched German lines at Albert, in the Somme region, where the attack could be carried out with massed artillery support (given that the batteries were already in place) and by fresh troops. Specifically, the assault would be spearheaded by the British Third Army and the U.S. II Corps, with the Fourth Army, including Monash’s Australian Corps, in support. 

	On August 21st, having stockpiled supplies, munitions and reinforcements in sufficient numbers, and having given the support elements from Fourth Army a chance to recover from their exploits of the previous weeks at Amiens, an attack was launched at dawn against the German positions at Albert, which had been the site of two previous battles since 1914. Although Haig had planned his operation carefully, he could not rely on the hundreds of tanks which had spearheaded the assaults at Amiens, and thus the Allied advance was less impressive than it had been on August 8th. It took a day of hard fighting, but on August 22nd, the British 18th Division was able to capture Albert and drive out the German defenders. This was the start of an all-out advance by the Third Army, with Fourth Army in support, against the German positions in the Somme area. On a roughly north-south front over 30 miles wide, the British, American and ANZAC forces launched a successful assault which pushed the Germans back from their positions in the Somme region. Following the capture of Albert, the British Army widened the front a further 7 miles, capturing Baupame on August 29th. 

	The Germans were on the back foot, and exploiting the momentum of the advance was key in order to achieve another knockout victory. However, the route of the Allied advance lay across the Somme river, which was dominated by Mont St Quentin, a German strongpoint atop a steep hill a mile north of the town of Peronne. At this point, German guns dominated both the river crossing and the town beyond. The Germans might fall back elsewhere, but provided they held Mont St Quentin, it would be virtually impossible to mount a successful advance. 

	As a result, seizing the hill promised to be a brutal, bloody affair, and the task fell to General Monash’s Australian Corps, which would face the German 51 Korps. Initially, Monash had hoped his men would be able to cross the marshes directly in front of Mont St Quentin, but the boggy ground proved to be too much for them to have any hope of crossing it at speed. Monash, thinking on his feet, quickly modified his plan, so on the night of August 30th, the 2nd Division of the Australian Corps crossed the Somme River under cover of darkness, reaching their planned forward assault positions in the early hours of the morning of August 31st. At 5:00 a.m., under cover of an artillery bombardment, two Australian battalions screamed as they charged up the slope of Mont St Quentin. Their sudden, howling rush achieved what Monash had hoped against tired, frightened German troops, who raked the assault with rifle fire but surrendered rapidly once the Australians got amongst them with the bayonet. 

	As the attacking battalions drove deep into the heart of the defensive positions at Mont St Quentin, more Australian troops streamed across the Somme on a newly repaired bridge. A determined German counterattack, which included vicious close-quarters fighting with rifles and bayonets on the hill’s summit, managed to drive the Australians out of the center of the German position, but dusk fell before they were able to drive the Australians completely off the hill. Monash’s troops managed to retain a foothold by defending the forward line of German entrenchments as an impromptu earthwork, and the following morning, fresh Australian reinforcements streamed up the hill and recaptured it for good, driving the Germans out of their foothold on the summit. 

	At the same time, Monash dispatched a column to assault the town of Peronne. Once again, the Australians drove deep into the German defensive strongpoint during the course of a day’s close-quarters fighting, battling hand-to-hand in the town’s streets and houses. The following day, the Australians reinforced and drove the Germans out of Peronne entirely. 

	It was a truly remarkable victory, one that British General Henry Rawlinson called the greatest military achievement in the entire war. Despite being low in numbers, tired from the offensives during the first part of August, and forced to attack heavily defended strongpoints with minimal artillery and no armored support, the Australians had turned the tide for good while suffering 3,000 killed and wounded. The position on the Somme was now untenable for the Germans, who had no choice now but to continue fighting defensively and hope to rally at defensive lines further east. Crucially, since Mont St Quentin dominated most of the territory to the east, once the Allies placed guns on the hill (or turned the German ones sited there around), they would be able to drop shells on any German defensive entrenchment all the way to the Hindenburg Line, the fallback German defensive front from which they had first launched the Spring Offensive. The Australians also took almost 3,000 prisoners and inflicted thousands of casualties upon the Germans. 

	While the Australians were engaged in securing Mont St Quentin and Peronne, on September 2nd the Canadian Corps launched an assault on the Drocourt-Queant line, a series of German defensive entrenchments which marked the extreme westward end of the Hindenburg Line. The Canadian Corps was supported by the British 52nd Division and, overall, suffered over 5000 casualties. However, despite these losses the Canadians inflicted similar casualties upon the Germans and also captured 6000 German troops who simply laid down their arms and refused to fight any longer – a change from previous German POWs who, as often as not, had been wounded too severely to fight on or to escape ahead of the Allied advance. Usually large numbers of prisoners following a successful attack meant either a unit that had been encircled or a field hospital overrun before the casualties could be evacuated – as the retreating Germans knew they would be well-treated and probably better fed, there were no qualms about leaving such men behind. However in this case it was further testament to the fragility of German morale at this point. 
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	A map demonstrating the gains made by the Allies during the offensive

	The German commander, General Ludendorff, had hoped to hold the Allied advance up at the Canal du Nord, but this was not to be. The German Seventeenth Army was given the task of defending Canal du Nord, while the other German armies in the area, the Second, Ninth, and Eighteenth, pulled back beyond the Hindenburg Line, leaving the ground taken in the Spring Offensive to the Allies. To the north, the Germans also pulled back out of the Lys Salient without offering any resistance. It swiftly became apparent to the Allied high command that with the exception of Seventeenth Army’s strongpoint behind the Canal du Nord, the Germans intended to offer no further resistance beyond the Hindenburg Line. They would rally there, and wait for the blow to fall. 

	In the meantime, Canal du Nord had to be taken. After the fall of Havrincourt and Saint Mihiel on September 12, along with the neighboring position at Epehy, Canal du Nord was the last outpost of German resistance beyond the Hindenburg Line. Destroying it was key to a future offensive against the Hindenburg Line, because even though it was only partially complete and dry in places, the canal still presented a formidable obstacle that a determined enemy could defend to the death.

	On September 27th, as part of a larger plan devised by Foch and other Allied commanders to breach the Hindenburg Line, elements of the British First Army, commanded by General Henry Horne, launched an assault on the Canal du Nord position. The Canadian Corps, now proven to be an effective shock force, led the assault. Canadian combat engineers threw bridges across the canal in pitch darkness, and in the twilight before dawn, four attacking divisions stormed across the water and struck the Germans completely by surprise. The shock troops were within rifle range and charging the enemy entrenchments before the Germans had time to rub the sleep from their eyes, and the troops of the Seventeenth Army only had time to fire a few hasty volleys before they were overrun. The Canadians streamed into the trenches, clearing them with bayonets and hand grenades, and overran the entire position in a matter of hours. An attempt to push further east towards the Hindenburg Line was met by fierce resistance from well-entrenched troops, so the attack stalled, but the Germans paid a heavy price. Over 30,000 were taken prisoner, and an unknown number killed or wounded.
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	A picture of Canadian soldiers building a bridge across the canal

	The Battle of Amiens and the subsequent operations in the Somme area had been remarkably successful. Tens of thousands of Germans were captured, killed or wounded, the territorial gains made, and German morale was weak. Furthermore, the assaults west of the Hindenburg Line had deprived the Germans of one of their key MSRs (Main Supply Routes), which ran parallel to the line on what was now Allied-held soil. Without this, the Germans would have severe difficulty moving large quantities of materiel, ammunition and reinforcements with the same speed and efficiency which had characterized their logistical operations previously. 

	The road to the Hindenburg Line was now open, but the Germans were now massed from north to south along the most formidable series of fortifications in Europe. Mile upon mile of barbed wire entanglements, pillboxes, machine gun nests, bunkers, artillery batteries, entrenchments and fortified strongpoints awaited the Allies, and all of it was defended by virtually every able-bodied soldier Germany could still muster. The Hindenburg Line was considered by many to be completely impenetrable, and indeed many in the Allied high command felt that assaulting it was a dangerous gamble when Germany might well eventually be starved into submission via blockade. Foch and his subordinate commanders agreed that to attempt such an assault two years before, when German morale had been high, supplies plentiful, and the soldiers fit and well-trained, would have been tantamount to suicide. With daring and a little luck, however, the attack might now be able to succeed. 

	The Battle for the Hindenburg Line

	With the German Armies massed behind the Hindenburg Line – and half-starved due to the Royal Navy’s blockade – Foch could now plan his assault, or, as it became known, the Great Offensive. The Great Offensive, as the name suggested, was not a small-scale, localized assault but an all-out, concentrated assault meant to deliver a knockout blow. The French, British, American and ANZAC forces (as well as their Belgian and Italian allies) would hurl everything they had at the last viable German line of defense. If the Hindenburg Line fell, so would Germany. 

	The plan called for four main assaults. The Americans, fresh to the war and eager, would be launched alongside the French forces in the Meuse-Argonne region. The British would strike alongside the Australians and French in the St Quentin canal area. The Canadians would launch their own attack against the Hindenburg Line at Cambrai, and the Belgians, bolstered by the British and French, would attack in Flanders. All four offensives would be launched at roughly the same time, and continue for the better part of a month, although some dragged on virtually to the signing of the Armistice. 

	For clarity, these are divided geographically rather than discussed chronologically, as the scale of the offensive is too vast to easily make sense of in such a fashion.

	The Meuse-Argonne Offensive

	On September 26th, 1918, the Americans received the go-ahead to launch the Meuse-Argonne Offensive, their major operation in the Great War. Although the overwhelming majority of the troops to be employed were inexperienced in trench warfare, the U.S. forces outnumbered the Germans by three to one in that sector. There were roughly 450,000 fighting fit German troops in the Meuse-Argonne area, but the AEF had over a million men (American First and Second Army), including almost 3,000 artillery pieces, over 800 planes, and almost 400 tanks (the guns, planes and tanks were provided by the French and British). Added to this were the French Fourth and Fifth Army, which might have made the outcome seem almost a foregone conclusion, but in reality, the Germans would prove tough. 

	The logistical feat required to bring the might of the AEF to bear was the brainchild of Colonel George Marshall (best known for the post-World War II Marshall Plan), and it was a remarkable plan in its own right given the difficulties of transport and terrain and the relative inexperience of most of the troops involved. By September 26th, however, all was ready, and at dawn, the Meuse-Argonne Offensive began. The American troops were eager, but they were unused to the full horror of trench warfare, while the Germans were experienced to the point of war-weariness. That said, large numbers of their troops were fresh from the Eastern Front, and their morale was generally much higher. It was these troops, forming the backbone of the German Fifth Army, who would cause the AEF the most grief. 

	At 0530, following a heavy preliminary bombardment, the American divisions swept forward with the French in support. They had expected slight resistance but instead ran into a nightmare of barbed wire entanglements, machine gun nests with interlocking arcs of fire, defensive artillery positions, and trenches crammed with German riflemen who stubbornly refused to retreat and kept up a bitter fire until the attacking troops either gained a foothold in their entrenchments or were driven to ground. Casualties among the Americans were high, and the results of their attacks mixed to say the least. Montfaucon d’Argonne, the objective of the 79th Division, stubbornly resisted all attempts at capture, even when the 37th Division was thrown into the fight as reinforcements. The 28th Division was decimated by enemy fire and unable to make any serious headway. On a more positive note for the American High Command, the 91st Division captured over 5 miles of German-held ground, but after heavy hand-to-hand fighting they were driven out of the recently captured village of Epinonville. III and V Corps managed to capture their objectives and hold them, albeit with heavy casualties.

	The following day, the fighting, stalled by the coming of darkness, was renewed with a vengeance, but the First Army made virtually no headway. The 79th was able to drive the German defenders out of Montfaucon d’Argonne, but other divisions met with little success save for the 35th, which managed to drive forward deep into the German positions to its front. The men of the 35th Division captured the villages of Baulny and Charpentry, but since the units on the flanks were unable to match its pace, it found itself in the unenviable position of being hemmed in by enemy forces on three sides with its flanks exposed. Two days later, six under-strength German divisions reinforced the troops opposite the 35th and stormed the American positions in a vicious counterattack which nearly knocked the division, virtually bereft of ammunition and supplies, out of the fight entirely. The Americans managed to rally and held their positions, but it quickly became apparent that this, unlike the battles recently spearheaded by ANZAC troops elsewhere on the Western Front, would not be a storming assault against demoralized troops but a grim slog of attrition against a determined enemy.

	While the Americans were meeting with mixed fortunes, the French forces on their flank were having better luck. Despite one of their early assaults being thrown into chaos when its general, bravely but rashly leading from the front, was cut down by enemy fire, they made significant gains in the Somme-Py region. Over the course of two days, the French were able to capture almost 10 miles of German ground, as opposed to the 3-5 miles the Americans had managed to capture, but the disparity should not reflect too harshly upon the AEF; the French had experience fighting in trenches and were assaulting across flat open ground where their tanks could be more effective.

	 With their initial objectives accomplished, the American and French attacking divisions were given a chance to rest, and the 35th, 37th, 79th and 91st Divisions were replaced in the line by the 1st, 3rd and 32nd, which renewed their assault on October 4th. The 1st Division was the most successful during this new series of assaults, surging forward under heavy fire to drive back four German divisions almost two miles further than the units on its flanks. During the confused, scrappy fighting that followed, a battalion-strength unit of the AEF (actually drawn together from a number of different units) was cut off by German forces and almost entirely wiped out. Of this “Lost Battalion”, as it became known, only 200 men survived out of the original 500-600. Many of the dead and wounded were the result of shelling from friendly artillery, who assumed that only enemy troops would be occupying that particular area. The 28th Division, with support from the 82nd, which rushed to fill in the space between the 1st Division and the nearest friendly unit, managed to rescue the dazed and exhausted survivors of the Lost Battalion on October 7th after three days of hard fighting. The battle raged on almost without respite for the remainder of the month, with incidents of heroism occurring on an almost daily basis. On October 8th, Sergeant (then Corporal) Alvin York captured 132 German soldiers on his own, winning the Congressional Medal of Honor in the process.

	If the soldiers of the AEF thought that the worst was over, they were in for a grim surprise. With no room or favorable terrain (or training) to execute effective maneuvers, the First and Second Army were reduced to hurling themselves against the German positions head-on, flinging battalion after battalion into the meat-grinder against some of the strongest German positions on the Hindenburg Line and hoping to overwhelm them by sheer weight of numbers. The fighting reached its fiercest peak from October 14-17, when the AEF finally succeeded in breaking through the German line for good. Over the following two weeks, the American troops drove the German defenders clean out of the shell-shattered remnants of the Argonne Forest, forcing the enemy lines back a full 10 miles across their entire front. The French on the left flank met with even greater success; taking full advantage of the more favorable terrain that lay before their line of advance, they smashed the German resistance all the way to the Aisne, where their momentum was cut short by the natural bulwark the river presented.

	From November 1-10, the offensive was marked by a slow, methodical advance made by the American forces, now split into two armies under the command of Generals Liggett and Bullard. The two wings headed for the Carignan-Meizeres Railroad and the town of Metz, forcing the Germans back and driving their troops out of Buzancy. The fortifications at Buzancy commanded the approach to the Aisne opposite the French line of advance, and capturing it allowed them to cross the river without suffering heavy casualties. Once across the Aisne, the French were freed of a major obstacle and able to surge forward with renewed speed and vigor, seizing the town of Le Chesne and the Sedan Railway Hub, a key junction which supplied most of the German positions in the area. The American forces linked up with the French at Sedan and helped clear the hills of enemy strongpoints until the declaration of the Armistice on November 11th. During the fighting, the Americans had lost over 26,000 men killed and 95,000 wounded, while the French had suffered 70,000 casualties overall, but they had inflicted over 120,000 casualties on the enemy, who had put up a far fiercer resistance than expected. Despite the heavy cost, they had broken the Hindenburg Line and captured dozens of miles of enemy territory.
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	A picture of a downed German plane during the offensive

	The Battle of St Quentin Canal

	While the American First and Second Army launched their assault on the Meuse-Argonne Area, to their flank a joint British–Australian– American army under the command of Monash was launching an assault against the other section of the German Siegfried Stellung strongpoint of the Hindenburg Line. This assault would primarily take place in the area of the St Quentin Canal, which served as the main defensive bulwark of the German forces in the region. Monash, fresh from previous successes with his Australian shock troops, had 14 divisions under his command, including two on loan from the AEF, against a roughly comparable number of German troops.

	The assault began the day after the launching of the Meuse-Argonne offensive, when pessimistic reports of American troops failing to complete their initial objectives were filtering through via radio and telegraph. The initial assault was intended to drive any remaining German troops out of the fortified hilltops and defensive strongpoints that they had still managed to defend ahead of the main entrenchments of the Hindenburg Line, a task which fell to troops from the two American divisions attached to Monash’s force. The idea had been for the U.S. soldiers to replicate the highly successful Australian tactic of assaulting enemy positions with little to no preliminary bombardment, but Monash or his subordinate commanders overestimated the battle-readiness of the AEF troops. Many junior American officers were away receiving training in these new tactics when the attack was launched, resulting in a largely unsuccessful attack that saw AEF soldiers driven to ground by determined enemy fire. 

	With the American infantry badly mauled, Monash decided to launch a renewed assault on September 29th following a protracted large-scale bombardment. The assault was carried out by the AEF 27th and 30th divisions, with Monash’s beloved Australian Corps in support, ready to add the weight of experience and numbers if needed. The attack was spearheaded by 150 tanks provided by 4th and 5th Tank Brigade. 

	Since the AEF had not been fully trained in Monash’s shock tactics, they had to wait for the preliminary bombardment to pound the German positions, which, while weakening resistance, also warned the Germans of an impending attack, allowing them to be ready when it came. Despite this warning, however, the AEF troops ploughed onward through a galling enemy fire, sheltering behind their tanks, and drove the Germans out of the defensive positions to their front. By midday on the 29th, the 30th Division had captured the villages of Bellicourt and significant portions of Nauroy.

	On their flank, the British 46th Division, using Monash’s favorite tactics, met with even better success. Crossing the St Quentin Canal in the teeth of deadly machinegun fire from bunkers across the water, the British soldiers stormed the enemy trenches and cut off the German avenue of retreat, forcing over 4,000 men (80% of the opposing force) to lay down their arms and surrender. Part of the success of the British assault was due to the actions of soldiers of the North Staffordshire Regiment, who, in the vanguard of the storming party, seized the Riqueval Bridge, the main avenue across which the attack then advanced over the canal. The Riqueval had been mined by the Germans with orders to blow it if the British attempted an assault, but the speed and surprise of the advance was such that the German defenders never got a chance to do so. 
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	A picture of Brigadier General J.V. Campbell addressing soldiers on the Riqueval Bridge

	Monash’s multinational force had now broken through two of the three main lines of defense of the Hindenburg Line in the St Quentin area. The final obstacle across their line of advance was the ominously named village of Beaurevoir (“beautiful goodbye”), which had been fortified and turned into a strongpoint at the center of what became known as the Beaurevoir Line. The terrain around Beaurevoir consisted of a series of steep rolling hills, and the Germans had fortified and defended the summit with machineguns and light artillery, creating a formidable obstacle which had to be captured if the assault was to succeed. 

	Monash launched his attack on October 2nd, sending the 32nd and 46th British divisions to attack the strongpoint with the support of the Australian 2nd Division. The attack met with mixed success; by nightfall, the British and Australians had succeeded in punching through the line on a 10-mile front, but the village of Beaurevoir and the hills beyond proved to be greater obstacles than envisioned. The German defenders stubbornly refused to be dislodged from their positions, but over the following week the Australian 2nd Division and the British 25th Division spearheaded a series of assaults in the area which eventually bled the Germans dry. Beaurevoir was captured on October 6th, and the strongpoint at Montbrehain on October 5th, after which all that remained was to mop up by capturing the heights overlooking the town. By October 10th, these had been cleared of all enemy resistance. 

	With that, Monash and his men were through the Hindenburg Line.

	Second Battle of Cambrai

	In the wake of Monash’s success at the St Quentin Canal, 21 divisions from British First, Third and Fourth Army (including elements from the Canadian and New Zealand Corps) under the command of Generals Horne, Byng and Rawlinson launched an attack against 180,000 German troops dug in around the Cambrai area. Cambrai had been the site of a major engagement in 1917 that had been remarkable for being the war’s first battle to feature widespread use of tanks in the attack. Cambrai itself was a sizeable city, and much of the fighting during the battle was conducted among shell-blasted and half-ruined buildings, with Allied soldiers clearing houses room by room with bayonets and grenades. 

	The German forces around Cambrai had been organized into three lines of entrenchments, as was fairly standard for German defensive positions at the time (an advanced, main and “fallback” trench). However, due to the ongoing French-AEF operations in the Meuse-Argonne Area and the recent multinational assault at St Quentin, the defenders at Cambrai were overstretched, undersupplied and primarily from rear-echelon units such as the 20th Landwehr (militia) division. Additionally, there were less than 200 guns in the entire Cambrai area, far less than what would be needed to halt a major assault, and little ammunition for them. 

	The assault on Cambrai was launched on October 8th and spearheaded by the Canadian Corps, with the infantry advancing behind a rapid preliminary bombardment and over 300 tanks, with warplanes flying overhead in support, machine-gunning exposed troops and strafing the trenches. Soldiers of the 2nd Canadian Division thundered into Cambrai early in the day, advancing so rapidly and behind such a heavy weight of fire that the German soldiers garrisoning the city fled after firing a few volleys. The 2nd Canadian Division drove straight through the town, chasing after the fleeing German soldiers to prevent them from going to earth in their fallback entrenchments. Clearing the town of any remaining opposition was to be the task of the 3rd Canadian Division, but when its soldiers entered Cambrai on October 10th, they found it completely empty; any German soldiers still in the area had likely gotten rid of their uniforms and weapons and fled. The entire operation in Cambrai cost the Canadian 3rd Division just 20 casualties all told, many of which were suffered as a result of unexploded ordnance from previous shelling. 

	The lightning advance of the Canadian Corps ground to a halt east of Cambrai, where the newly reinforced German troops were able to rally temporarily and put up a fierce resistance. The Canadian forward elements had now outrun their support, and heavy casualties were taken before the advance was temporarily suspended. Overall, the Battle of Cambrai cost the Allies 12,000 men and the Germans around 10,000, but at this stage the Germans simply could not afford to lose that many soldiers.  Although the Germans had managed to rally, the lightning speed with which the Canadians had seized Cambrai – at virtually no cost – was a testament to the deep malaise and war-weariness now infecting German troops in many sectors. Just two years before, Cambrai would have been a death-trap to the Allies, but in October 1918, it had fallen with barely a shot fired.

	Fifth Ypres

	[image: 60 pounder gun advancing in Flanders 22-09-1918 IWM Q 6996.jpg]

	British guns being transported near Flanders

	While the battle for the Hindenburg Line raged on multiple fronts to the south, an oft-forgotten and disregarded campaign was being fought to the north, in Belgium, by the Groupe d’Armees des Flandres (Army Group Flanders). Army Group Flanders was a multinational force composed of primarily Belgian soldiers, with British, French and American forces in support. All told, it consisted of 12 Belgian divisions, 10 British, 6 French, and 2 American. It was commanded by General Plumer, General Degoutte, and King Albert I of Belgium. 

	[image: A man wearing a military uniform, and helmet, with a moustache.]

	King Albert I

	The Belgian soldiers in particular were eager to fight, having witnessed their homeland devastated and suffering a series of humiliating defeats already. They wanted revenge against the Germans, and Army Group Flanders’ task was to launch an assault in the Ypres Salient area, driving towards the Belgian city of Liege. Facing it were 16 German divisions.

	Fresh, eager and confident after months of light duties, Army Group Flanders launched its assault on September 28th, the day after the commencement of the Meuse-Argonne offensive to their south. At 0530, the offensive began under the command of King Albert. The assault was spearheaded by British troops across a 5 mile-front, and the infantry used the new method of a shock attack without a preliminary bombardment in order to maximize the element of surprise. This would have been all the more surprising since the German commanders might have expected a bombardment to precede the relatively inexperienced Belgian troops. The Belgians advanced in support and to the flank of the British, their combined assault driving the Germans (who were reduced to only 5 divisions in the area of the attack) back a full 6 miles. AGF managed to recapture a large portion of the Paesschendaele area, including Zonnebeke, Poelcappelle, Schaap Baillie, Zandvoorde, Kortewilde, Becelaere, Kruiseecke, and the remnants of the Houthhulst Forest before being held up by increasingly foul weather and the coming of darkness. The following two days, the assault resumed, with probes on the flanks of the main axis of advance capturing St Yves, Messines, Dadizeele and Terhand, all while the soldiers slogged wearily through mud churned knee-deep in areas and  the tanks labored and belched smoke in the quagmire. 

	By October 2nd, the British held the left bank of the Lys river all the way to Comines, while the Belgians had captured Moorslede, Dixmude and Staden. The weather continued to be bad throughout, and Army Group Flanders finally ran out of steam around October 2nd, bogging down in front of the German entrenchments in the face of heavy enemy fire from reinforcements which the German commanders had rapidly pushed up to the front. Once again, the attacking spearhead had outrun its supply and support, and the state of the ground was so miserable that no trucks or horses could provide the attacking divisions with food. The AGF commanders actually resorted to a parachute airdrop of rations for the advancing soldiers in order to provide them with some much needed sustenance, but the momentum of the attack was, for the time being, spent. 

	That said, Fifth Ypres had still been a success. The AGF had lost around 10,000 men (roughly equally split between Belgian and British killed and wounded), and a further 10,000 Belgians were sick or lightly wounded, but they had killed or wounded thousands of the enemy, captured 300 guns and over 600 machineguns, and taken over 10,000 German soldiers prisoner. Indeed, another reason the advance had bogged down was the need to detach large numbers of troops to guard prisoners and provide them with rations and medical assistance.  

	The skies cleared somewhat in the first days of October, but the commanders of AGF knew it was imperative to continue the advance before the truly bad winter weather choked the momentum of the advance for good. Accordingly, the offensive was resumed on October 14th. At 0530, AGF launched an assault from their position at Comines, striking north along the Lys towards Dixmude. A creeping barrage was launched ahead of the advancing British infantry, which then stormed the German positions atop Wevelghem, Menin and Wervig, driving the Germans out of the fortified hilltops, while another British assault seized Gulleghem, Steenbek and Moorslede. Meanwhile, Belgian troops had successfully captured Iseghem and Cortemarck, and French infantry had invested the German position at Roulers.

	Roulers was captured by the French after a day’s hard fighting on October 15th, and the following day British forces advanced along the north bank of the Lys up to the town of Harelbeke, fording the river or throwing up boat-bridges across the river wherever opposition was lightest. Two days later, after some heavy fighting, AGF had taken Lille, Osten, Douai, and Thourout, and two days later they captured Zeebrugge and Bruges, advancing clear all the way to the Dutch border. On October 19th, British divisions crossed the Lys in force and captured Courtrai, a key supply and logistics hub for the German army’s troops in the area. This led to a major withdrawal by German forces, who streamed past the front of British Fifth Army as they retreated southward. 

	By October 22nd, the British forces had reached the river Scheldt, after taking Tourcoing and Roubaix. The advance petered out after this, but by this point all major objectives had been completed. AGF had driven the German troops opposite their entrenchments a full 45 miles back on all fronts, forming a new frontline along the Scheldt from Temeuzen down to Ghent and along the Scheldt to Ath and Saint Ghislain. In that area, troops from AGF linked up with elements of the British Expeditionary Force along the Somme, thus creating a new, continuous frontline impregnable to enemy counterattack.

	The Hindenburg Line, the last great German defensive bulwark, had collapsed. Marshal Foch’s grand offensive had reaped all the success the Allied commanders could have dreamed of, with the Germans beaten and on the run in all sectors. The Belgian, British, American, French and ANZAC forces were advancing everywhere, driving a shattered but still stubborn German resistance before them. Large numbers of the enemy were surrendering at this point, some without even putting up a fight, but casualties still remained high both among the Allies and the fleeing Germans.

	Mopping Up Until the End of the War
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	Pictures of Canadian soldiers fighting at Valenciennes in November 1918

	“At eleven o’clock this morning came to an end the cruellest and most terrible War that has ever scourged mankind. I hope we may say that thus, this fateful morning, came to an end all wars.” – David Lloyd George, November 11th, 1918

	There was a temptation for the victorious troops to rest on their laurels, but Foch and his commanders knew that giving the Germans time to regroup and re-arm risked allowing them to dig in again further east and prolong the fight for months if not years. Accordingly, all Army Groups pressed on with the offensive, pausing just long enough to rest, resupply and re-arm, with the light elements harassing the German rearguards to the best of their ability. The objective now was to capture the Metz-Bruges railway, the main supply route for all German forces on the Western Front. If that fell, then there could be no hope of serious resistance for the Germans, who were now retreating across ground they had first captured in 1914.

	All of the four main thrusts ordered by Foch were still on the advance. The Americans and French moved forward in the Meuse-Argonne area, the British and ANZAC troops pressed forward around the St Quentin Canal, the Army Group Flanders in the North advanced, and the British, Australian and Canadian troops continued from Cambrai. In the wake of their relatively bloodless victory at Cambrai, British and ANZAC troops resupplied and then broke through the German lines where they had attempted to rally at Naves and Thun-Saint-Martin, but the Allies held up again around Le Cateau, where the Germans had once again turned a river into a natural defensive bulwark by fortifying the eastern bank of the Selle River and dominating its approaches with guns and machineguns. The British commander, General Henry Rawlinson, had to determine how his troops would negotiate the river itself, then the fortified railway embankment on the eastern bank, and finally storm the heavily defended ridge beyond, which could rake the entire approach with heavy fire. While Field Marshal Haig advanced with his troops 5 miles eastwards towards the Selle to outflank the German positions at le Cateau, General Rawlinson paused for almost a week so that his heavy artillery could come up and commence bombarding the German defensive positions. 

	The final plan agreed upon was a risky one; the British troops would throw gangplanks across the river and cross on foot, then the subsequent pontoon bridges laid by the engineers would enable the field artillery to get across. At 0520 on Thursday, October 17, the British Fourth Army launched their attack with infantry and tanks advancing behind a close-range creeping barrage across a ten-mile front. The left wing and center of the Fourth Army managed to cross the Selle in the teeth of heavy enemy fire, losing hundreds to machinegun and rifle fire as they ran into thick barbed wire entanglements that the Allied barrage had been unable to clear properly. The Germans, dislodged from the riverbank, managed to rally on the railway embankment, where the Fourth Army was held up again. 

	On the right flank of the advance, where the terrain was more favorable and the barbed wire entanglements less thick, the Fourth Army succeeded in breaking through the German defenses by nightfall. Outflanked and outmatched, the Germans were forced to pull out of le Cateau and retreat into the open, where the British vanguard harried them throughout the 18th and 19th with support from the French First Army. Rawlinson’s troops managed to capture 5 miles of German land, forcing the enemy to retreat to the Sambre-Oise Canal.

	Meanwhile, the First and Third Army under Haig continued their own joint offensive, launching a night attack on October 20th and capturing the hills that commanded the eastern bank of the Selle. On October 23rd, once the British heavy artillery had been maneuvered into position, the First, Third and Fourth Army launched a major assault against the German positions at Sambre-Oise, driving the German Army out of their defensive positions there. 

	Nonetheless, the Germans were still not out of the fight, and on October 24th they attempted a major counterattack along the Canal de la Derivation, where they hoped that the Belgian forces holding the line would present a less formidable defense than other Allied forces. However, the German hopes were dashed when the Belgians held their positions and broke all attacks launched on their entrenchments, forcing the Germans to fall back once more. On October 26th, General Luhdendorff, the architect of the failed Spring Offensive, was forced by the Kaiser to resign.

	By this point, despite tens of thousands of Allied casualties suffered while securing the Selle and le Cateau, the German army was virtually spent as a fighting force. Hundreds of thousands of German soldiers were dead, incapacitated or captured, many of them irreplaceable veterans. Germany simply could not field more soldiers than were being lost, even by calling up age classes which had been considered ineligible for mobilization at the start of the war, or fudging the numbers by forcing sick or wounded men to take up arms. Additionally, the Royal Navy blockade ensured that Germany was virtually bereft of supplies, so the rations received by soldiers on the front were increasingly insufficient to meet their needs or absent altogether. There was also a dearth of ammunition and medical supplies, not to mention machineguns and light and heavy artillery pieces, of which the Allies had captured hundreds in their lightning advance. 

	In early November, the British First, Third and Fourth Armies, alongside the French First Army and the AEF divisions now emerging from the Argonne, launched what would be their final advance against the German army. Advancing across a 30-mile front, the Allies would harass the Germans and prevent them from carving out another defensive line on the eastern bank of the Meuse. 

	On November 4th, at 0500, 17 British and 11 French divisions launched their assault. Unlike the previous offensives of the Hundred Days, there would be no massed deployment of armor to shield the advance of the infantry. Battlefield attrition and mechanical failure had taken their toll, and the Royal Tank regiment had managed to muster less than 40 tanks for the attack. As a result of this, casualties among the leading infantry divisions were high. Leading the vanguard, XIII and IX Corps of the British Army ran into the Sambre Canal, an obstacle nearly 70 feet wide. Caught in the open, the XIII and IX corps were decimated by German artillery, which poured a murderous barrage on the attackers. Over a thousand British soldiers were killed in crossing the canal, which was eventually accomplished by throwing temporary bridges across the water under the lead of Lt. Colonel Johnson, who won the Victoria Cross doing so. 

	Even once they got across the canal itself, the vanguard divisions ran into a nightmare of machine gun nests, barbed wire entanglements and bunkers, with all the approaches to these obstacles having been pre-sighted by German artillery. It took over six hours before the Allies managed to breach the German lines on a 15-mile front.

	To the North, the IV and V corps were meeting with mixed success as they stormed the Mormal Forest and the village of Le Quesnoy, where a mixture of German troops (some war-weary to the point of exhaustion, others still willing to fight) had turned the village into a fortified strongpoint. The 9th Battalion of the 17th Division lost over half its men storming the buildings, while the Royal Welsh Fusiliers took their sector with barely a shot fired when the Germans surrendered before their advance. Eventually, all enemy forces were dislodged from Le Quesnoy, while the French First Army captured Origny-en-Thierache and Guise. By November 4th, the Allies had captured 3 miles of German ground on a 50-mile front, and the German army was in its death throes. Like an inexorable juggernaut, the Allied armies would advance relentlessly throughout the week leading up to November 11. 

	 

	The End of World War I
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	Pictures of Canadian soldiers fighting at Valenciennes in November 1918

	“At eleven o’clock this morning came to an end the cruellest and most terrible War that has ever scourged mankind. I hope we may say that thus, this fateful morning, came to an end all wars.” – David Lloyd George, November 11th, 1918

	By early November 1918, the Allies were steadily pushing the Germans back across the Western Front. The Americans and French moved forward in the Meuse-Argonne area, the British and ANZAC troops pressed forward around the St Quentin Canal, the Army Group Flanders in the North advanced, and the British, Australian and Canadian troops continued from Cambrai. In the wake of their relatively bloodless victory at Cambrai, British and ANZAC troops resupplied and then broke through the German lines where they had attempted to rally at Naves and Thun-Saint-Martin, but the Allies held up again around Le Cateau, where the Germans had once again turned a river into a natural defensive bulwark by fortifying the eastern bank of the Selle River and dominating its approaches with guns and machineguns. The British commander, General Henry Rawlinson, had to determine how his troops would negotiate the river itself, then the fortified railway embankment on the eastern bank, and finally storm the heavily defended ridge beyond, which could rake the entire approach with heavy fire. While Field Marshal Haig advanced with his troops 5 miles eastwards towards the Selle to outflank the German positions at le Cateau, General Rawlinson paused for almost a week so that his heavy artillery could come up and commence bombarding the German defensive positions. 

	By this point, despite tens of thousands of Allied casualties suffered while securing the Selle and le Cateau, the German army was virtually spent as a fighting force. Hundreds of thousands of German soldiers were dead, incapacitated or captured, many of them irreplaceable veterans. Germany simply could not field more soldiers than were being lost, even by calling up age classes which had been considered ineligible for mobilization at the start of the war, or fudging the numbers by forcing sick or wounded men to take up arms. Additionally, the Royal Navy blockade ensured that Germany was virtually bereft of supplies, so the rations received by soldiers on the front were increasingly insufficient to meet their needs or absent altogether. There was also a dearth of ammunition and medical supplies, not to mention machineguns and light and heavy artillery pieces, of which the Allies had captured hundreds in their lightning advance. 

	At 11:00 a.m. on the 11th day of the 11th month, the “war to end all wars” finally came to an end. The Armistice brought about the cessation of all offensive activities in Europe, and the points detailed in the text of the armistice itself were mainly decided by Marshal Foch. Though based upon Woodrow Wilson’s Fourteen Points, what they meant in brief was a complete and utter defeat for Germany. All military hostilities were to cease immediately within six hours, and Germany would withdraw all remaining troops from France, Luxembourg, Belgium and Alsace-Lorraine within two weeks. The Germans would also be obliged to pull back from their positions in Turkey, Romania and Austro-Hungary and resume the 1914 border line. Likewise, they would have to withdraw all forces on the Western front to the Rhine and submit to Allied occupation of a buffer zone. The German navy would also be confined to port, and all its submarines surrendered to the Allies, along with 5,000 artillery pieces, 25,000 machine guns, 3,000 mortars, 1,700 airplanes, 5,000 train locomotives and 150,000 train cars. 

	[image: http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/c/cd/Waffenstillstand_gr.jpg]

	A painting depicting the signing of the Armistice in a carriage of Foch's private train, CIWL #2419
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	Foch (second from right in the front) at the signing of the Armistice

	As the terms suggest, there was no sympathy for the Germans, either in the armistice terms or in those of the peace that followed. Likewise, public opinion (and that of the troops who had fought so hard and for so long) was strongly in favor of making examples out of the Germans. Millions had died, France and Belgium had been devastated, and Russia had been plunged into bloody revolution, and it was firmly believed that the Germans had been responsible for all of it and thus deserved everything they got. Accordingly, the Allies kept firing upon the German positions right until the very last possible second before the armistice came into effect. Carting spare ammunition back to the artillery depots seemed like an unnecessary task when it could simply be fired at the Germans, particularly in case they decided not to honor the terms of the agreement. In fact, Allied artillery was responsible for over 10,000 casualties on November 11th alone, with what was likely the final shot of the war being fired by Battery 4 of the U.S. Navy’s Railway Guns at 10:57:30. 

	What followed World War I in the shell-shocked vacuum of a war-ravaged Germany is well-known, and the merits of meting out such a ruthless punishment on the losers, and the resentment and hatred this fostered within the German population, has been debated at length. That said, it is difficult not to sympathize with the decision-makers who forced the terms of surrender down the Kaiser’s throat after seeing millions of their young men march off to fight and die against what they saw as unrepentant German aggression. The peace process was always bound to be an emotional issue, particularly for the French and Belgians at the table who had seen huge swaths of their countries turned into barren, shell-blasted wastelands by four years of warfare. 

	Still, some of the veterans at the time presumed the Great War would not be the “war to end all wars.” Indeed, Foch himself prophetically asserted, “This is not a peace. It is an armistice for 20 years.” 

	The Nazi Party After the War

	Defeat in World War I left Germany reeling with shame, injured pride, and deep resentment, as well as racked by economic woes. The nation had been filled with discontent and problems even before the conflict began, including an extremely poisonous and widespread anti-Semitism which flourished because the Jews were defenseless and thus formed a group upon whom the miserable and destitute could take out their frustrations with impunity. 

	As a result, the combination of military and economic collapse at the end of the war left Germany subject to widespread economic pain and violent social conflict, the kind of conditions that lead to revolutions much like the one that had swept up Russia in 1917. “Fear and hatred ruled the day in Germany at the end of the First World War. Gun battles, assassinations, riots, massacres and civil unrest denied Germans the stability in which a new democratic order could flourish.” (Evans, 2005, 100). Indeed, the communist Spartacists attempted a bloody revolution until they were crushed by the paramilitary right-wing Freikorps, which rose as a counter to the then very real threat of communist totalitarianism, and a general fear of the communist menace remained even after the Spartacists were broken decisively. Ironically that would allow for the formation of other paramilitary forces like the SA that Hitler would end up utilizing in his rise to power.

	The problems were further exacerbated by the transition from class-based traditional society to modern culture, with its rationalism, emphasis on individual freedom, and intellectually penetrating doubts about the long-settled cultural status quo and its frequently illogical taboos and prejudices. Issues such as hair styles, modes of dress, and the role of women grew to overwhelming threats to civilization itself in the fevered imaginations of socially conservative elements, who were often those most paradoxically ready to embrace radical authoritarian politics. 

	The varied factions occupied a strange common ground in one regard: their frenzied anti-Semitism. A demonic, utterly destructive, inhuman Jew was seen behind every phenomenon that was hated, feared, or suspected, even those of diametrically opposed character. Germany's collective imagination deemed the Jews to be simultaneous architects of capitalist tyranny over the workers and communist incendiaries seeking to rouse Bolshevik hordes to slit the throats of entrepreneurs and good, honest, hard-working Germans. Every Jew who had ever lived or who was then living was viewed not as a regular person but as a bizarrely fanatical, devilish saboteur dedicated to destroying all society, culture, art, and hope on the earth. World War I had been lost, it was asserted, not because the Germans had been overwhelmed by force of numbers but because the Jews had stabbed the Imperial army in the back. This myth was vigorously fostered by the army's top generals, who wished to divert blame for the defeat from themselves.

	The fear, despair, and deprivation of the German people quickly coalesced into action, usually anti-democratic and marked by outbursts of violence. The era “brought with it a ‘new wind’ in politics throughout Germany […] The wind blew from the trenches, from the schools, from the universities […] Fanned by it, a large number of political and political-military groups developed in postwar Germany […] the new groups […] opposed all existing political groups, institutions, and doctrines, and were to a considerable extent mutually competitive and destructive.” (Gordon, 1972, 3). 

	Thus, a number of right-wing organizations quickly emerged in the years following Germany's surrender. One of the earliest of these was the Stahlhelm, or "Steel Helmets," a paramilitary veterans' organization which was both highly revolutionary and, in many ways, conservative. The Sturmabteilung (SA), which formed later, shared many of the Stahlhelm's goals but frequently espoused a working-class, brutally socialist agenda that the Steel Helmets found contemptible.       

	Political parties also flourished in the postwar years. The Social Democrats and the Center Party were the most rational of these, and they largely sought to create a stable republic amid the era's ongoing chaos and economic shocks. Dedicated to a peaceful and law-abiding cultural and political outlook, however, they found it difficult to rein in the other parties and factions, which had no such scruples. The German communist party, or KDP, remained a force even after the Spartacists, though its star was on the wane and it never mustered enough Reichstag seats to counter the other parties' agendas. 

	Looming behind all the other factions and parties was the Reichswehr, the German Army. Though nominally reduced to an active strength of 100,000 men by the treaties that ended World War I, millions of ex-soldiers still identified closely with it and thought of themselves as military men first and foremost, giving it tremendous power. Led by a "fiercely monarchist and ultra-conservative officer corps" (Evans, 2005, 102), the Army was also the main wielder of legally sanctioned armed force in Germany, making it an ally worth cultivating by any politician or demagogue seeking real, lasting power. 
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